
i 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL, PENNS PLACE, 
PETERSFIELD, HAMPSHIRE GU31 4EX 

 
Telephone:  01730 266551 

Website:  www.easthants.gov.uk 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA 
 

Date: Thursday, 28 April 2022 

Time: 6.00 pm 

Venue: Council Chamber, Penns Place, Petersfield, GU31 4EX 

 
Public Attendance 
 
Please note that the Council Chamber has very limited capacity to safely 
accommodate members of the public in a Covid secure manner.  Please contact the 
named officer below if you wish to attend in person but note that priority will be given 
to those who have registered to make a deputation, otherwise we would encourage 
attendance virtually via the webcast on the Council’s website. 
 

 
Membership:      Councillor S Pond (Chairman) 
 
Councillors A Williams (Vice-Chairman), D Ashcroft, D Evans, A Glass, S Hunt, 
M Johnson, P Langley, C Louisson, S Schillemore, I Thomas and E Woodard 
 
Reserves: K Budden (Reserve), K Carter (Reserve), N Drew (Reserve), G Hill 
(Reserve), T Maroney (Reserve) and N Taylor (Reserve) 
 

(THE QUORUM FOR THIS MEETING IS 7 VOTING COUNCILLORS) 
 

 
 
The business to be transacted is set out below:  
 
 
Gill Kneller 
Chief Executive 
 
 
Date of Publication: Wednesday, 20 April 2022 
 
Contact Officer: Lydia Merriman 01730 234073 
 Email:  lydia.merriman@easthants.gov.uk 

Working in Partnership 



ii 
 

 
 

 



iii 
 

 

  Page Nos 

  
 

 

1.  Apologies for Absence   
 

 

2.  Confirmation of Minutes   
 
Please note that it is helpful if Councillors could give advance notice, 
to Democratic Services, of any questions they wish to raise in respect 
of the Minutes. 
 
Minutes of the meeting held on 9 March 2022. 
 
 

9 - 26 

3.  Chairman's Announcements   
 

 

4.  Declarations of Interest   
 
Councillors are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest which they may have in any item of 
business on the agenda no later than when that item is reached.  
Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any 
discussion of, or vote on, or discharge any function related to any 
matter in which you have a pecuniary interest as defined by 
regulations made by the Secretary of State under the Localism Act 
2011.  You must withdraw from the room or chamber when the 
meeting discusses and votes on the matter. 
 

 

 

Matters for Decision 
 

 
 

5.  Acceptance of Supplementary Matters   
 

 

6.  Future Items   
 

27 - 28 

7.  Report of the Director of Regeneration and Place   
 

 

 

PART 1 - East Hampshire District Council Items 
 

 
 

 

Section I 
 

 
 

7.(i)   59143/FUL/MH - Land to the rear of 2-4 Willowfield, Watercress 
Way, Medstead, Alton   
 
William Lacey Group 
 
Construction of 4 dwellings with parking and landscaping (as 
amended by plans and additional information received on 23/07/2021 
and 03/11/2021) 

29 - 66 



iv 
 

 
 
  
 

 

Section II 
 

 
 

 There are no Section II items within this agenda 
 

 

PART 2 - South Downs National Park Items 
 

 
 

 

Section I 
 

 
 

7.(ii)   SDNP/22/00643/HOUS - 138 The Causeway, Petersfield, 
Hampshire, GU31 4LL   
 
Mr Will Parsons 
 
Demolition of an existing conservatory structure and building an 
extension on the same footprint as the removed conservatory. 
  
 

67 - 82 

 

Section II 
 

 
 

 There are no Section II items within this agenda 
 
 
  
 

 



v 
 

 
  
 





 

 
vii 

  Page Nos 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

IF YOU WOULD LIKE A VERSION OF THIS AGENDA, OR 
ANY OF ITS REPORTS, IN LARGE PRINT, BRAILLE, 
AUDIO OR IN ANOTHER LANGUAGE PLEASE CONTACT 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES ON 01730 234073. 
 
 

Internet 
 

This agenda and its accompanying reports can also be found on the East 
Hampshire District Council website: www.easthants.gov.uk 
 
 

Public Attendance and Participation 
 

Please note that the Council Chamber has very limited capacity to safely 
accommodate members of the public in a Covid secure manner.  Please 
contact the named officer below if you wish to attend in person but note that 
priority will be given to those who have registered to make a deputation, 
otherwise we would encourage attendance virtually via the webcast on the 
Council’s website. 
 
The public, agents, applicants, and Councillors are allowed to make 
deputations on matters included in the agenda. Rules govern this procedure 
and for further information please get in touch with the contact officer for this 
agenda. 
 
Disabled Access 
 

All meeting venues have full access and facilities for the disabled. 
 

Emergency Procedure 
 
Please ensure that you are familiar with the location of all emergency exits 
which are clearly marked. In the unlikely event of an emergency an alarm will 
sound. 
 
PLEASE EVACUATE THE BUILDING IMMEDIATELY. 
 
DO NOT RE-ENTER THE BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO. 
 
No Smoking Policy 
 

All meeting venues operate a no smoking policy on all premises and grounds 
 

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. This report considers planning applications submitted to the Council, as the Local 
Planning Authority, for determination.  It may also include items which are being 
determined by the Council on behalf of the South Downs National Park Authority. 

East Hampshire District Council is acting as an agent for the South Downs National 
Park Authority in accordance with an agreement signed under Section 101 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990.  Under this arrangement the Council can determine 
planning applications on sites within the South Downs National Park area of the district 
on behalf of the National Park Authority.  Applications for the South Downs National 
Park are prefixed with the letters SDNP.  

2.1. SECTIONS IN THE REPORT 

The report is divided into two main parts;  

Part 1 – East Hampshire District Council 

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which are 
being determined or considered by the Council as the Local Planning Authority.   

Part 2 – South Downs National Park Authority 

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which fall 
within East Hampshire District’s area of the South Downs National Park and which the 
Council is determining or considering on behalf of the South Downs National Park 
Authority.   

Each part of the report is split into two sections:   

Section 1 - Schedule of Application Recommendations  

This Section deals with planning applications that have been received by the Council 
and which require the Planning Committee to make a decision to grant or refuse 
permission.  Each item contains a full description of the proposed development, details 
of the consultations undertaken and summary of the responses received, an 
assessment of the proposal against current policy, a commentary and concludes with 
a recommendation.  A presentation with slides will be made to Committee.  Public 
participation is allowed on Section 1 items. 

Section 2 – Other matters  

This Section deals with other planning matters which are not the subject of a current 
application or are current applications which have already been determined and have 
been subject to a committee resolution to grant or refuse.  

Page 1

Agenda Annex



 

No formal presentation will be made to Committee, unless required, and there will be 
no public participation.” 

2.2. All information, advice, and recommendations contained in this report are understood 
to be correct at the time of publication, which is more than one week in advance of the 
Committee meeting.  Because of the time constraints, some reports may have been 
prepared in advance of the final date for consultee responses or neighbour comment.  
Where a recommendation is either altered or substantially amended between 
preparing the report and the Committee meeting or where additional information has 
been received, a separate Supplementary Matters paper will be circulated at the 
meeting to assist Councillors.  This paper will be available to members of the public. 

3. PLANNING POLICY 

3.1. All planning applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) of the Town and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  If the development plan contains material policies 
or proposals and there are no other material considerations, the application should be 
determined in accordance with the development plan.  Where there are other material 
considerations, the development plan will be the starting point, and other material 
considerations will also be taken into account.  One such consideration will be whether 
the plan policies are relevant and up to date.  The relevant development plans are the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan, The East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy 
2014, the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocations 
2016 and the saved policies in the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 
2006.  The Development Plan also includes made neighbourhood Plans. 

3.2. Although not necessarily specifically referred to in the Committee report, the relevant 
development plan will have been used as a background document and the relevant 
policies taken into account in the preparation of the report on each item.   

3.3. The East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy and Local Plan have policies that 
contain criteria that must be met if a particular form of development is to be allowed.  
Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) February  2019 states:  
“Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.”   

3.4. The Council may sometimes decide to grant planning permission for development that 
departs from a development plan if other material considerations indicate that it should 
proceed.  One of these material considerations is whether the plan is up-to-date in 
terms of housing delivery.  

4. OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS  

4.1. Material considerations must be genuine planning considerations, i.e. they must be 
related to the development and use of land in the public interest.  They must also fairly 
and reasonably relate to the application concerned.  The Courts are the arbiters of 
what constitutes a material consideration.  All the fundamental factors involved in land-
use planning are included, such as the number, size, layout, siting, design, and 
external appearance of buildings and the proposed means of access, together with 

Page 2



 

landscaping, impact on the neighbourhood, and the availability of infrastructure.   

4.2. Matters that should not be taken into account are: 

 loss of property value  loss of view 
 land and boundary disputes  matters covered by leases or covenants 
 the impact of construction 

work 
 property maintenance issues 

 need for development (save in 
certain defined circumstances) 

 the identity or personal characteristics of 
the applicant 

 competition between firms,   or matters that are dealt with by other 
legislation, such as the Building 
Regulations (e.g. structural safety, fire 
risks, means of escape in the event of 
fire etc). - The fact that a development 
may conflict with other legislation is not 
a reason to refuse planning permission 
or defer a decision.  It is the applicant’s 
responsibility to ensure compliance with 
all relevant legislation. 

 

4.3. Government statements of planning policy are material considerations that must be 
taken into account in deciding planning applications.  These statements cannot make 
irrelevant any matter that is a material consideration in a particular case.  Nevertheless, 
where such statements indicate the weight that should be given to relevant 
considerations, decision-makers must have proper regard to them.   

4.4. In those cases where the development plan is not relevant, for example because there 
are no relevant policies, the planning application should be determined on its merits in 
the light of all the material considerations.  

5. PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS  

5.1. The Council can impose conditions on planning permissions only where there is a clear 
land-use planning justification for doing so.  Conditions should be used in a way that is 
clearly seen to be fair, reasonable, and practicable.  One key test of whether a 
particular condition is necessary is if planning permission would have to be refused if 
the condition were not imposed.  Otherwise, such a condition would need special and 
precise justification.  

 

5.2. Where it is not possible to include matters that are necessary for a development to 
proceed in a planning condition the Council can agree a planning obligation under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  Planning obligations should 
meet the Secretary of State's policy tests.  They should be:  
 necessary; 
 relevant to planning; 
 directly related to the proposed development; 
 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development; and 

Page 3



 

 reasonable in all other respects. 

 

5.3. The use of planning obligations is governed by the fundamental principle that planning 
permission may not be bought or sold.  It is therefore not legitimate for unacceptable 
development to be permitted because of benefits or inducements offered by a 
developer, which are not necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms.  Planning obligations are only a material consideration to be taken into account 
when deciding whether to grant planning permission, and it is for the Council to decide 
what weight should be attached to a particular material consideration.  

6. PLANNING APPEALS  

Applicants have the right of appeal to the Secretary of State if an application is refused, or 
granted subject to conditions, or if it has not been determined within the specified period.  
Appeals are administered by the Planning Inspectorate - an executive agency reporting to 
the Secretary of State.  Appeals are considered by written representation, hearings, and 
public inquiries.  In planning appeals, it is normally expected that both parties will pay their 
own costs.  Costs can however, be awarded against the Council where it: 
 

(a) fails to determine a planning application in good time – the Council must have good 
planning reasons to explain and justify why it did not make a decision in time. 

(b) fails to carry out adequate prior investigation consistent with national policy and 
guidance. 

(c) prevents or delays development that should clearly be permitted having regard to 
the development plan, national policy statements and any other material 
considerations.  It is the Councils responsibility to produce evidence to show clearly, 
why the development cannot be permitted. Reasons for refusal must be 

 complete,  
 precise,  
 specific 
 relevant to the application, and 
 supported by substantiated evidence.  

(d) fails to show reasonable planning grounds for taking a decision contrary to officer 
advice  

(e) gives too much weight to neighbour objections - the extent of local opposition is not, 
in itself, a reasonable ground for resisting development. To carry significant weight, 
opposition should be founded on valid planning reasons that is supported by 
substantial evidence. 

(f) relies on unsubstantiated objections where they include valid reasons for refusal but 
rely almost exclusively on local opposition from third parties, through 
representations and attendance at an inquiry or hearing, to support the decision. 

(g) fails to show that it has considered the possibility of imposing relevant planning 
conditions to allow development to proceed. 

 
The following are examples given in Planning Practice Guidance of circumstances that 
may lead to an award of costs against the Council: 
(a) ignoring relevant national policy – for example, the advice in NPPF, 
(b) where a proposal is contrary to the development plan but the relevant policy has 

been superseded by national policy which advocates an entirely different approach.  

Page 4



 

An example might be ignoring national advice in paragraph 77 of NPPF which may 
allow some market housing to bring forward a rural affordable housing exception 
site, 

(c) acting contrary to, or not following, well-established case law, 
(d) persisting in objections to a scheme, or part of a scheme, which has already been 

granted planning permission or which the Secretary of State or an Inspector has 
previously indicated to be acceptable, 

(e) not determining like cases in a like manner – for example, imposing an additional 
reason for refusal on a similar scheme to one previously considered by the planning 
authority where circumstances have not materially changed, 

(f) failing to grant a further planning permission for a scheme the subject of an extant 
or recently expired permission where there has been no material change in 
circumstances, 

(g) refusing to approve reserved matters when the objections relate to issues that 
should already have been considered at the outline stage, 

(h) imposing a condition that is not necessary, precise, enforceable, relevant to 
planning, relevant to the development permitted or reasonable and thereby does 
not comply with the advice in the Planning Practice Guidance on the use of 
conditions in planning permissions, 

(i) requiring the appellant to enter into or complete a planning obligation which does 
not accord with the tests in para 56 of the NPPF, or 

(j) not imposing conditions on a grant of planning permission where conditions could 
effectively have overcome the objection identified – for example, in relation to 
highway matters. 

 

7. THE SECRETARY OF STATE'S ROLE 

7.1 The Secretary of State has reserve powers to direct the council to refer an application 
to him/her for decision. This is what is meant by a 'called-in' application. In general, 
this power of intervention is used selectively and the Secretary of State will not interfere 
with the jurisdiction of local planning authorities unless it is necessary to do so.  The 
Planning Practice Guidance sets out the type of development proposals that directs 
local authorities to consult with the Secretary of State before granting planning 
permission. 

 

8. PROPRIETY 

8.1 Councillors are elected to represent the interests of the whole community in planning 
matters and not simply their individual Wards.  When determining planning applications 
they must take into account planning considerations only.  This can include views 
expressed on relevant planning matters.  Local opposition or support for a proposal is 
not in itself a ground for refusing or granting planning permission, unless it is founded 
upon valid planning reasons.  

9. PRIVATE INTERESTS  

9.1 The planning system does not exist to protect the private interests of one person 
against the activities of another, although private interests may coincide with the public 

Page 5



 

interest in some cases.  It can be difficult to distinguish between public and private 
interests, but this may be necessary on occasion.  The basic question is not whether 
owners and occupiers of neighbouring properties would experience financial or other 
loss from a particular development, but whether the proposal would unacceptably 
affect amenities and the existing use of land and buildings that ought to be protected 
in the public interest. Covenants or the maintenance/protection of private property are 
therefore not material planning consideration. 

10. OTHER LEGISLATION  

10.1 Non-planning legislation may place statutory requirements on planning authorities, or 
may set out controls that need to be taken into account (for example, environmental 
legislation, or water resources legislation).  The Council, in exercising its functions, 
also must have regard to the general requirements of other legislation, in particular:  

 The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000, which prevents discrimination 
directly or indirectly in any functions, carried out by public authorities.  

 The Equality Act 2010, which places a duty on all those responsible for providing 
a service to the public not to discriminate against disabled people by providing a 
lower standard of service.  

 The Human Rights Act 1998, which incorporated provisions of the European 
Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) into UK law.  The general purpose of the 
ECHR is to protect human rights and fundamental freedoms and to maintain and 
promote the ideals and values of a democratic society.  It sets out the basic rights 
of every person together with the limitations placed on these rights in order to 
protect the rights of others and of the wider community.  The specific Articles of 
the ECHR relevant to planning include Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), 
Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), 
Article 14 (Prohibition of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions and protection of property).  All planning 
applications are assessed to make sure that the subsequent determination of the 
development proposal is compatible with the Act.  If there is a potential conflict, 
this will be highlighted in the report on the relevant item. 
 

11. PUBLIC SPEAKING 

11.1 The Council has adopted a scheme for the public to speak on all Section 1 items. 
Where public speaking is allowed, the applicant or their representative, the local 
Parish/Town Council, and one objector may address the Committee, for a maximum 
of three minutes each, by prior invitation.  Members of the public wishing to speak must 
have contacted the Meeting Administrator in Democratic Services at least 48 hours 
before the meeting.  It is not possible to arrange to speak to the Committee at the 
Committee meeting itself. 

11.2 For probity reasons associated with advance disclosure of information under the 
Access to Information Act, neither the applicant, Parish Council, nor an objector will be 
allowed to circulate, show or display further material at, or just before, the Committee 
meeting.   

 

Page 6



 

12.  INSPECTION OF DRAWINGS 

12.1 All drawings are available for inspection on the internet at www.easthants.gov.uk and 
at the Planning Development Reception area during our normal office hours.  The files 
and drawings will also be available 30 minutes prior to the start of meeting for 
Councillors to inspect. 

13. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

13.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  However, in the event 
of an appeal, further resources will be put towards defending the Council’s decision.  
Rarely and in certain circumstances, decisions on planning applications may result in 
the Council facing an application for costs arising from a planning appeal.  Officers will 
aim to alert Members where this may be likely and provide appropriate advice in such 
circumstances. 

 
Simon Jenkins 
Director of Regeneration and Place 
 
Background Papers: 
 
 the individual planning application file (reference quoted in each case) 
 the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013 
 East Hampshire Joint Core Strategy 2014 
 East Hampshire Employment & Housing allocations Plan 2016 
 East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 2006 - Saved Policies 
 Adopted Neighbourhood Plans: Alton, Bentley, Medstead & Four Marks, Ropley, 

Petersfield, Liss, and East Meon 
 Government advice and guidance contained in circulars, National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and ministerial statements 
 any other document specifically referred to in the report. 

Page 7

http://www.easthats.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



  1 
Planning Committee  

(9.3.22) 

 
 
 

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
At a meeting of the Planning Committee held on 9 March 2022 
 
 
Present  
 
Councillor: S Pond (Chairman) 
 
Councillors: A Williams (Vice-Chairman), D Ashcroft, D Evans, A Glass, P Langley, 
C Louisson, S Schillemore, E Woodard, G Hill (Reserve) and T Maroney (Reserve) 
 
Other Councillors Present: 
 
Councillor(s):   
 
 
72. Apologies for Absence  

 
Apologies were received from Councillors S Hunt, M Johnson and I Thomas.  
 
 

73. Confirmation of Minutes  
 
Minutes of the meeting held on 17 February 2022 were agreed and signed as a 
correct record.  
 
 

74. Chairman's Announcements  
 
The Chairman welcomed all those present to the Planning Committee, in 
addition to the Councillors who sit on the committee.  
 
 

75. Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no Declarations of Interest from members of this meeting.  
 
 

76. Acceptance of Supplementary Matters  
 
Councillors present confirmed that they had received and read the Minutes of 
the meeting held on 17 February 2022, which had been received under 
Supplementary Matters, since the agenda had been published.  
 
There were no further Supplementary Matters Papers received at the meeting.  
 
 
  
 Page 9



  2 
Planning Committee  

(9.3.22) 

 
 
 

77. Future Items  
 
 
The committee agreed to inspect the following sites, should the applications be 
referred to the Planning Committee for determination: 
 

 23291/029 – Lymington Farm Industrial Estate, Lymington Bottom Road, 
Four Marks, Alton, GU34 5EW 

 

 39009/008 – Land to the north of the Telephone Exchange, Lymington 
Bottom Road, Medstead, Alton 

 

 58788 – Land to the west of, Longbourn Way, Medstead, Alton 
 
 

78. Report of the Director of Regeneration and Place  
 
The reports of the Director of Regeneration and Place were considered, and it 
was RESOLVED that:  
 
 

Application No. Site and Description: Resolution: 

38980/007/FUL 

 

The Spinney, Shalden Lane, Shalden, 

Alton, GU34 4DT 

 

Demolition of the existing 

dwellinghouse, associated garage and 

outbuilding, and the erection of a 4-

bedroom dwellinghouse and associated 

garage. The existing swimming pool and 

tennis court are proposed to be replaced 

and the garden landscaped. (Revised 

landscaping plan received 18.11.2021) 

 

Permission subject to the conditions as 

set out in Appendix A 

 

 
79. PART 1 - East Hampshire District Council - Applications and related 

planning matters to be determined or considered by the Council as the 
local planning authority. 
 

80. SECTION 1 - APPLICATIONS REPORTED IN DETAIL 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



  3 
Planning Committee  

(9.3.22) 

 
 
 

81. 38980/007/FUL/KM - The Spinney, Shalden Lane, Shalden, Alton, GU34 
4DT  
 
Full Application – Demolition of the existing dwellinghouse, associated garage 
and outbuilding, and the erection of a 4-bedroom dwellinghouse and associated 
garage. The existing swimming pool and tennis court are proposed to be 
replaced and the garden landscaped. (Revised landscaping plan received 
18.11.2021) 
 
The Development Management Team Leader introduced the application, which 
was a replacement dwelling in the countryside. He stated that members had 
attended a site visit the previous week.   
 
A location plan showed the highway of Shalden Lane, which ran north south to 
the west of the site, approximately 250 metres from the village and some 
considerable distance from neighbouring properties, with the exception of 
‘Fairfield’ to the south.  An aerial photograph showed images of a swimming 
pool and former tennis court on the site plus three poultry houses, which had 
since been removed. Photographs also showed that the application site was 
located to the top of a shallow hill. 
 
Existing and proposed site plans were then provided as part of the 
presentation. The footprint of the new proposed two storey dwelling was shown 
on the Proposed Site Plan, together with the garage which was located to the 
south of the site, plus a replacement outbuilding to the north. Access to the site 
from Shalden Lane would remain unchanged with this proposal. The Existing 
Site Plan denoted areas of Permitted Development extensions, which did not 
require planning permission. These had recently been established in relation to 
the uplift and floor space of the existing dwelling and an Existing Elevations 
Plan showed drawings of the five bedroom dwelling in respect of the north, 
south, east and west elevations. 
 
A further Proposed Site Plan was shown of a new swimming pool and also a 
flint wall which would connect the garage to the south. The proposed footprint 
would occupy a similar position on the site as the existing dwelling and the 
tennis court would be relocated from the boundary to the north. 
 
The Development Management Team Leader explained that the Permitted 
Development Fallback Position, which should be taken into account as a 
material consideration for this application, had been granted through a Lawful 
Development Certificate for side extensions, and Prior Approval for a rear 
extension. Established Fallback Floorspace of the rear extension would almost 
double the footprint, should the applicant decide to implement the Permitted 
Development rights granted on the site. 
 
An artistic impression of the proposed Front, Rear and Side Elevations, showed 
a contemporary and modern styled house, which would measure 6.6 metres to 
the top of a flat roof. Materials used would be timber cladding on the first floor 
and a flint finish on the external wall of the ground floor. Floor Plans were 

Page 11



  4 
Planning Committee  

(9.3.22) 

 
 
 

shown to describe the proposed accommodation and plans of the garage and 
also proposed workshop were shown. 
 
A revised landscape scheme would include planting of trees and hedgerows, as 
some trees had been recently removed, although certain existing mature trees 
would remain.   
 
The Development Management Team Leader then outlined the main planning 
issues considered in respect of the report: 
 
Principle of Development – The proposal, as a development within the 
countryside, met the necessary criteria in both National and Local policies. 
 
The floorspace calculations for the replacement dwelling could achieve a 
comparable area as extensions to the existing dwelling, under Permitted 
Development Fallback Position.   
 
Impact upon the scale and character of the site and the local area – The 
proposed dwelling would be located generally on the footprint of the existing 
dwelling. The plot itself could readily absorb the size of the dwelling. 
 
Impact on Heritage Assets – Objections had been raised in relation to the 
detrimental impact the contemporary design of the proposed dwelling could 
have on the rural character of the area, village conservation area and local 
listed buildings. It was confirmed however that the plot did not have a close 
association with any of the more built up properties of the village to the south 
and that the proposed development would therefore not be viewed as harmful 
to the local setting or conservation area.  
 
The Development Management Team Leader concluded his presentation and 
recommended permission for the reasons stated, as listed within the report.  
 
The Chairman thanked the Officer for his presentation and informed that three 
members of the public were registered to speak in respect of this application. 
 
The Committee was then addressed by the following deputees: 
 
Mr David Lancaster spoke as a member of the public 
 
As set out in Appendix (i), attached to these minutes. 
 
Cllr Dave Orme, spoke as a representative of Shalden Parish Council  
 
As set out in Appendix (ii), attached to these minutes. 
 
Mr Dan Roycroft, spoke as the agent on behalf of the applicant from Atlas 
Planning Group 
 
As set out in Appendix (iii), attached to these minutes. 
 Page 12



  5 
Planning Committee  

(9.3.22) 

 
 
 

The Chairman asked the Development Management Team Leader if he wished 
to make any comments on the deputations received.   
 
The Officer wished to clarify a point made on behalf of Shalden Parish Council. 
He stated that the amended plan received in November 2021, was in respect of 
an amended Landscaping Plan but nothing further had been received. 
 
The Chairman then invited the Committee to ask questions of the officer and 
debate the application. 
 
The Development Management Team Leader responded to members in 
respect of the following points raised: 
 

 Materials used would be of flint and not render, although as stated in 
Condition 4, exact detail was required before approval. 

 There were no Tree Preservation Orders inside or outside of the site 
boundary. 

 The applicant could build two site extensions without permission, under 
Permitted Development, if they wished to do so. 

 Details of the Permitted Development Fallback Position were further 
provided, particularly in respect of current policies of building 
developments in the countryside. 

 Plantation would provide an opportunity to soften the landscape, as 
stated in Condition 4. It may be acceptable for more quickly growing 
specimens to be planted, although trees should not be too tall for 
inappropriate screening. 

 Any landscaping matters would be considered within the conditions. 

 The Council’s solicitor expressed concerns in respect of the request 
made by a member to add a new condition to try and secure mitigation 
measures to reduce light transmittance. The solicitor stated that any 
condition could not be imposed and would not be enforceable. 

 
Members noted that there was a duplication of Conditions 7 and 8 and 
therefore the Officer agreed that Condition 7 should be deleted. It was also 
agreed that an additional informative would be included to make the applicant 
aware that as part of the requirements under Condition 3, the Council would 
expect them to provide details of the planting scheme to include native species 
of a size and maturity at planting stage to provide a more immediate effect. 
 
Members of the committee, on balance, support the application. Members 
acknowledged that the principle of the development would provide a good 
quality modern dwelling, which would stand alone outside of the permitter of the 
conservation area in the countryside. It was also noted that the new 
development could embody architectural importance in the future. 
 
The Committee voted on the Officer’s recommendation for permission of 
application 38980/007/FUL/KM, subject to the reasons listed on page 23 of the 
agenda, as set out within the report. The removal of Condition 7 was agreed 
plus the inclusion of an additional Informative, the final wording to be confirmed 
with the Chairman and the local Ward Councillor. Page 13



  6 
Planning Committee  

(9.3.22) 

 
 
 

Following the vote, the recommendation was declared CARRIED, 10 
Councillors voting FOR approval, 1 Councillor voting AGAINST approval and 
no Councillors ABSTAINING from voting. 
 
 

 
 

The meeting commenced at 6.00 pm and concluded at 7.30 pm 
 

Page 14



 
Part 1 

 
EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
Applications determined by the  

Council as the Local Planning Authority 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

9 March 2022 
 

 
 

PROPOSAL Demolition of the existing dwellinghouse, associated 
garage and outbuilding, and the erection of a 4-
bedroom dwellinghouse and associated garage. The 
existing swimming pool and tennis court are proposed 
to be replaced and the garden landscaped. (Revised 
landscaping plan received 18.11.2021) 

LOCATION: The Spinney, Shalden Lane, Shalden, Alton, GU34 4DT 

REFERENCE 
NO: 

38980/007/FUL/KM  

 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 

of three years from the date of this planning permission. 
Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 
 

2 No development shall commence on site above slab level until a scheme 
has been submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority to demonstrate that the built development hereby permitted 
incorporates measures that provides at least 10% of energy demand from 
decentralised and renewable or low carbon energy sources.  
Before any part of the development is first occupied a verification report 
and completion certificate shall be submitted in writing to the Local 
Planning Authority confirming that the built development hereby permitted 
has been constructed in accordance with the approved scheme.  
 

Page 7

Minute Item 79.

Page 15



The developer shall nominate a competent person for the purpose of 
assessing and providing the above required report and certificate to 
confirm that the completed works incorporate such measures as to 
provide these requirements.  The measures shall thereafter be retained 
and maintained to the agreed specification for the lifetime of the 
development.  
Reason - To ensure that the development incorporates necessary 
mitigation and adaptation measures with regard to climate change.  It is 
considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as 
these details relate to the construction of the development and thus go to 
the heart of the planning permission. 
 

3 The development hereby approved shall not be first brought into use until 
a fully detailed hard and soft landscape and planting scheme (which 
includes details of all the boundary treatments and details of the gate) for 
the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details and in accordance with the recommendations of the 
appropriate British Standards or other recognised codes of good practice.  
These works shall be carried out in the first planting season after practical 
completion or first occupation of the development, whichever is earlier, 
unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years after planting, are 
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be 
replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of species, size 
and number as originally approved unless a suitable alternative species 
are otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and to 
enable proper consideration to be given to the impact of the proposed 
development on existing trees. 
 

4 Notwithstanding any indication of materials that may have been given in 
the application or in the absence of such information, no development 
above slab level shall take place on site until samples / details including 
manufacturers details of all the materials to be used for external facing 
and roofing for the development hereby approved have been submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
Reason - To ensure that the materials used in the construction of the 
approved development harmonise with the surroundings. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8Page 16



5 Development shall proceed in accordance with the ecological mitigation, 
compensation and enhancement measures detailed within the Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal (EcoSupport, April 2021) and Bat & Protected 
Species Survey and Bat Emergence Survey (EcoLogic, July 2021) unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All ecological 
mitigation, compensation and enhancement features shall be installed as 
per ecologist's instructions and retained in perpetuity in a condition and 
location suited to their intended function.  
Reason - To protect biodiversity in accordance with the Conservation 
Regulations 2017, Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, the NERC Act (2006), 
NPPF and with Policy CP21 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: 
Joint Core Strategy. 
 

6 On the day on which the new dwelling hereby permitted is first occupied 
or is practically completed, whichever is the earlier, the existing dwelling 
within the application site shall cease to be used for any purpose, and 
within one month of that day the existing dwelling shall be demolished, 
the resultant materials cleared from the site, and the land reinstated, in 
accordance with details which have first been submitted to, and agreed in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason - In order to secure the removal of the existing dwelling which is 
being replaced, and in order to protect the character of the 
area/countryside. 
 

7 Notwithstanding any indication on the approved plans, the resultant 
dwelling shall not have a total habitable floor area greater than 500 
square metres gross external measurement.  Upon implementation of this 
permission, notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order, 2015 (or any 
order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) there shall be no 
additions to or extensions/enlargement of the dwellinghouse to which this 
application relates without a grant of planning permission from the Local 
Planning Authority. 
Reason - The property lies outside of any recognised settlement where 
the Local Planning Authority seeks to retain a range of dwellings, and 
therefore wishes to control any further alterations, extensions or 
conversion of the roof space. 
 

8 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, re-
enacting or modifying that Order) the garage hereby approved shall only 
be used for the purpose of parking private motor vehicles in connection 
with the residential use of the property. 
Reason - The property lies outside of any recognised settlement where 
the Local Planning Authority seeks to retain a range of dwellings, and 
therefore wishes to control any further conversions of outbuildings. 

Page 9Page 17



 
9 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following approved plans and particulars: 
 
Application Form 
Cil Form 1 - Additional Information 
DAS Document Part 1 
DAS Document Part 2 
Planning Statement 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
Drg. 0450 - North Elevation 
Drg. 0451 - East Elevation 
Drg. 0452 - West Elevation 
Drg. 0453 - South Elevation 
Drg. 100 - Location and Block Plan 
Drg. 103 - Existing Site Plan 
Drg. 104 - Site Plan Proposed 
Drg. 201 - Existing Floor Plans 
Drg. 250 - GF Plan 
Drg. 251 - FF Plan 
Drg. 252 - Garage 
Drg. 261 - Proposed workshop 
Drg. 350 S-02 - Site Section Proposed 
Drg. 400 E-01 - Existing Elevations 
Drg. 401 E-01 - Existing Outbuildings Elevations 
Drg. TT.OCO.501.3 - Scheme of Hard and Soft Landscaping (revised 
plan rec'd 18.11.21) 
 
Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development. 
 

Informative Notes to Applicant: 
 
1 In accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of the NPPF East Hampshire 

District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive approach and 
works with applicants/agents on development proposals in a manner 
focused on solutions by: 
offering a pre-application advice service, 
 
updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing 
of their application and where possible suggesting solutions. 
 
In this instance was provided with pre-application advice, and the 
application was acceptable as submitted and no further assistance was 
required. 
 
 

Page 10Page 18



2 The proposed development referred to in this planning permission is a 
chargeable development liable to pay Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) under Part 11 of the Planning Act 2008 and the CIL Regulations (as 
amended) 
 
In accordance with CIL Regulation 65, East Hampshire District Council 
will issue a Liability Notice in respect of the chargeable development 
referred to in this planning permission as soon as practicable after the 
day on which planning permission first permits development.  Further 
details on the Council’s CIL process can be found on the East Hampshire 
District Council website: 
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Planning%20C
ontributions%20and%20CIL%20Supplementary%20Planning%20Docum
ent%20-%20April%202016.pdf 
 

3 The applicant is made aware that as part of the requirements under 
Condition 3, the council will be expecting the details of the planting 
scheme to include trees, hedges and vegetation of a size and maturity at 
planting stage to provide a more immediate effect to help soften the 
development shortly after its construction.  

 
 
—————————————————————————————————————— 
 

Page 11Page 19



Objectors’ remarks re The Spinney for the planning committee on 9 March 2022  

 

(References are to pages and paragraphs in the agenda annex to the planning committee agenda) 

Words in [] will not be read out 

 

We would be happy with a reasonable, replacement building of the size proposed. 

1. However, this most controversial application is based on an entirely false premise because it 

is not, as the applicant contends, “reflective of the surrounding rural area, and sympathetic 

within its setting” and it cannot sensibly be said to “not appear incongruous” because it is 

obviously incongruous, [i.e. not in harmony.] 

 

2. This scheme will have a significant negative visual impact on the area as it is on open, high 

ground and is prominently visible from a wide arc of vision around it.  

 

3. Almost all the mature trees on the Shalden Lane boundary have now been felled and replaced 

by hedging whips of some 1.5 metres. Even when established in some 5 years, these will not 

provide any effective screening of the new building, and neither will the planting elsewhere. 

 

4. At page 3 para 3.3 mention is made of the JCS and Local Plan having policies that must be met 

and here they are not.  

 

5. This design is non-compliant with the opening policy statement for CP29 being “highly 

appealing in terms of visual appearance.” Obviously, this is subjective, but few people would 

regard this design as being ‘highly appealing’. [And it does not “respect the character, identity 

and context of the District’s towns, villages and countryside”] because it is a deliberate 

statement of the opposite and there is no similar design of a rural house in the wider area 

[CP29 (a).] 

 

6. The design offends CP29 (d) because it shows absolutely no recognition of local 

distinctiveness [and it is not “appropriate and sympathetic to its setting in terms of its scale 

etc”] and because in outline it resembles a collection of Shipping Containers. 

 

7. It offends CP29 (e) because the glass area is overpowering, and the profile is a brutal series 

of sharp edges entirely out of keeping with the traditional architecture of the area. 

 

8. Further, it offends CP30 because [it does not “conserve and………. enhance the District’s 

historic environment” as] it is ultra-modern and is an architectural insult to our precious 

historic environment. 

 

9. With respect to the officer, who contends otherwise, [on page 17 para 6 and page 19 para 5] 

on any common-sense basis, and in fact, this design is “harmful” [to the character and 

context of the site and local area]. She asserts categorically that the proposal would accord 

with CP29 when it does not. 

 

Page 12

Minute Item 81.

Page 20



10. Shalden is an important conservation area, and the core of this small village includes a 

property mentioned in the Domesday Book, timber framed houses, a medieval barn, and a 

17th century blacksmith’s house. Within 200 metres you would see a dominant, discordant 

unit which is entirely out of keeping with the existing as-built heritage including the 7 new 

ones built over the last 20 years (photos attached) and all the other dwellings off Shalden 

Lane. 

 

I therefore encourage the committee to turn down this application because there are valid planning 

reasons to justify such a decision, supported by substantial evidence. 

 

Page 13Page 21



Shalden Parish Council                                                                       APPENDIX (ii) 

Notes for Cllr Orme for meeting on 9th March 2022 re: The Spinney planning application(s) 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 At the time of the original application for The Spinney in July, Shalden Parish 

Council received no feedback from residents. The application was considered 

in line with planning guidelines and no reason for objection was evident. As 

such, Shalden Parish Council did not log any comments with EHDC Planning 

Dept. 

 

 As a consultee In November, the parish council were made aware of an 

amendment to The Spinney application. As concerns had been raised by 

Councillors, in line with standing orders, an open meeting was called to 

discuss the application, with specific attention to design policy reference C29.  

 

 In November, a number of objections had been raised directly to Shalden PC 

by residents. Although their concerns did not reference current legislation the 

Parish Council noted that: 

o  there was significant concern surrounding the design of the new 

dwelling,  

o a feeling that the design was not in keeping with the village and was 

detrimental to the sense of place. 

o there was also concern around its siting in the plot and the impact 

on the landscape.  

 

 On considering the concerns of residents The Parish Council noted that there 

is no overall design scheme for that portion of Shalden sitting outside of the 

conservation area and that in fact the village constituted a variety of 

architectural styles already.  

 

 Councillors considered the impact of the development on the neighbouring 

Conservation Area which constitutes a portion of the village.  While the 

proposed design is modern, given its’ location outside the conservation area 

there is no guidance too object. It was also noted that proposed dwelling is 

not visible at the same time as those within the conservation area and as such 

has no impact on them. 

Page 14Page 22



Shalden Parish Council                                                                       APPENDIX (ii) 

Notes for Cllr Orme for meeting on 9th March 2022 re: The Spinney planning application(s) 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 

 Following discussion, the Council decided by 4:1 that there were no grounds 

to object to the application but that it was appropriate to highlight the 

concerns of residents to EHDC Planning Dept 

 

In Summary 

 

 Having reviewed the application twice, Shalden Parish Council believes that 

while the application does follow the guidelines within the JCS, they would 

ask the Planning committee to consider the detailed concerns local residents  

have shared in relation to this proposal and that these are taken into account 

when making their deliberations. 

Page 15Page 23



Good evening Councillors & Chair, 

My name is Dan Roycroft, I’m a chartered town planner and the agent for this application. 

The application proposes the demolition of the existing dwelling and the erection of a high quality, 

sustainable, contemporary replacement home. 

The existing dwelling benefits from a realistic fallback position whereby it could be extended using 

permitted development rights to achieve a total floorspace of 498sqm. Well established Case Law has 

confirmed that the existence of a fallback position must be afforded significant weight in the planning 

balance, and East Hants have recently had Costs awarded against them on the adjoining site for not 

affording sufficient weight to a fallback position. 

The proposed dwelling has a total proposed floorspace of 500sqm, so is very similar to that which 

could be achieved by the fallback position and your Officers have confirmed significant weight should 

be afforded to this point. 

The planning assessment then moves to whether the proposed dwelling would be materially harmful 

to the character of the area and the landscape.  

The plot is located outside of the village when there is a more dense collection of dwellings. Shalden 

Lane by contrast holds only few dwellings along its length, stretched out of a wide area, and aside 

from one dwelling to the south, it doesn’t have a close relationship with other dwellings or plots in 

the area. This presents an opportunity to provide a contemporary, more exciting form without impact 

on the prevailing character of the area. The proposal is however still tied to the local vernacular 

through the use of locally prevalent materials such as flint as the main elevational treatment. 

In terms of landscape impact, the site is fairly well screened from public view so any impact would be 

limited by virtue of this point. Additionally, the design of the proposal and its contemporary form 

further limits impact – it will have a ridge height of just 6.6 metres compared to the 8m ridge of the 

existing dwelling. 

Impact is further limited by the proposed materials. The existing dwelling is fairly conspicuous by 

virtue of its stark white rendered elevations, and by contrast the proposed materials are flint, 

reflective of the locality, with a lightweight timber clad first floor. These will help the proposed home 

assimilate well into the verdant backdrop and become far less visible than the existing dwelling. 

Further to this, a soft landscaping scheme is proposed which add a new native hedgerow along the 

southern and eastern boundaries together with tree planting at and near the site entrance. Your 

Page 16Page 24



Landscape Officer has confirmed that, subject to the conditioning of this landscaping plan, he has no 

objections to the proposal. 

This proposal presents an opportunity to provide a home of real architectural quality, which is clearly 

contemporary in design, but also bedded in the local vernacular through the use of natural local 

materials such as flint, without harm to character of the area, the landscape or neighbouring amenity. 

As a result, I really hope you can support your Officer’s recommendation for approval. 

Page 17Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
28 April 2022 

 
POSSIBLE FUTURE ITEMS FOR COMMITTEE / SITE INSPECTION 

 
The following items are for INFORMATION purposes only.  They comprise major 
applications that have either been submitted some time ago but are still not yet ready for 
consideration or are recently received applications that are not ready to be considered by 
the Committee or determined under the Scheme of Delegation.  The purpose of this report 
is to highlight the receipt of these applications to ensure that any issues that they raise are 
highlighted at an early stage.  Councillors may also suggest possible future site 
inspections under this item. 
 
Where a site inspection is requested, this will be undertaken if the application is being 
referred to the Planning Committee for determination and does not automatically refer the 
item to the Planning Committee as there is a formal procedure in the Council’s Constitution 
to do this. 
 

 Reference Description and Address 

1 53322/007 
 
 

Development of 61 dwellings, with associated private and 
communal amenity space, garages, parking, internal roads, 
pathways, sustainable urban drainage, landscaping and 
associated works 
 
Land North of, Bartons Road, Rowlands Castle, Havant 
 
 
This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too early 
to make any decision as to how this application will be  
determined. 
 
 

2 58038/003 Installation of a solar farm and battery storage facility with 
associated infrastructure. 
  
Proposed Solar Farm and Battery Storage Facility - Area 
1, Broadway Lane, Lovedean 
 
 
This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too early 
to make any decision as to how this application will be 
determined. 
 
 
 

Page 27



3 55562/010 Reserved matters Application Pursuant to outline permission  
55562/007 - (layout, scale, appearance and landscaping) for 
Phase 2, a care village comprising a village care centre 
(VCC) incorporating up to 60 no. care-assisted living 
apartments and up to 60 no. C2 (age restricted) units 
comprising bungalows and apartments, (C2 Use), communal 
facilities, maintenance building and other ancillary structures, 
parking, drainage, landscaping, and other associated works. 
  
Development Land East of Horndean, Rowlands Castle 
Road, Horndean, Waterlooville 
  
 
This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too early 
to make any decision as to how this application will be 
determined. 
 

 

Page 28



Page 29



 

PART 1 

 
 

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE 

 

Applications to be determined by the 
Council as the Local Planning Authority 

 
28 April 2022 

 

SECTION 1 – SCHEDULE OF APPLICATION RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

 
Item No.: 01 
 

The information, recommendations, and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the final 
date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or necessary 
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting. 

 
 

PROPOSAL Construction of 4 dwellings with parking and landscaping (as 
amended by plans and additional information received on 23/07/2021 
and 03/11/2021)  

LOCATION: Land to the rear of 2-4 Willowfield, Watercress Way, Medstead, Alton 

REFERENCE 59143 PARISH: Medstead 

APPLICANT:  William Lacey Group 

CONSULTATION 
EXPIRY: 

15 April 2022 

APPLICATION EXPIRY: 15 April 2021 

COUNCILLOR(S): Councillor J May, Councillor D B Tennyson, Councillor I C 
Thomas 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION 

Page 30



This application represents a departure from the Development Plan, therefore under 
the Council’s Constitution, it is referred to the Planning Committee for determination. 
 
Site Description 
 
The application site comprises a broadly square parcel of land of approximately 0.21 
hectares, which was formerly garden land situated to the east of existing residential properties 
in Willowfield and the west of recently completed housing off Holland Drive (planning 
reference 25256/032). The site lies outside a Settlement Policy Boundary (SPB), outside a 
conservation area, outside Flood Risk Zones 2 and 3 (medium and high risk), outside both the 
0 - 400m and 400 - 5km buffer zone of a Special Protection Area (SPA) and outside the 
identified river catchment areas at risk from increased nitrates / phosphates. 
 
The site is largely flat, with former domestic outbuildings, existing vegetation cover and a 
series of mature trees, some of which are protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO). 
There is an existing 1.8-metre-high timber fence along the site's eastern boundary fronting but 
set back from Holland Drive. There are two similar sized land parcels immediately to the north 
and south of the site, which are also outside the SPB. The land to the north forms an open 
rough grassland area and the land to the south partly comprises the residential garden of 1 
Willowfield and the remaining land is former residential garden land. The site, together with 
the land immediately to the north and south of the site, lie outside the SPB but are surrounded 
by the adopted SPB on all sides.  
 
Proposal 
 
This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of four dwellings, with 
associated parking and landscaping details. 
 
The application has been subject of revisions / amendments since its original submission, and 
these are as follows: 
 
1) 23 July 2021 - revised housing mix and layout of four dwellings. Proposal went from 4 x 4 
bed dwellings (2 semi-detached and 2 detached) to 2 x 3 beds and 2 x 4 beds (again 2 semi-
detached and 2 detached). 
2) 03 November 2021 - Submission of Ecological Statement (Dormice) 
3) 22 December 2021 - Amended Site Plan showing proposed off-site planting mitigation 
area, together with supporting statement on proposed site planting, received on 22/12/2021. 
4) 14 February 2022 - submission of off-site ecological enhancements statement 
 
The proposed four dwellings are positioned in a north to south linear position through, 
approximately, the middle of the site with Unit 1 positioned adjacent and parallel to the 
northern site boundary and Unit 4 also positioned parallel to the southern boundary but some 
12 metres off this boundary line away from a nearby protected tree. The four dwellings are 
shown to be accessed from Holland Drive by way of a single width access road that is located 
opposite properties 16 and 18 Holland Drive.  
 

Page 31



The access road would extend across an existing grass verge between the eastern site 
boundary and Holland Drive into the site where there is an existing gap in the tree belt along 
the eastern boundary line.  
 
Site density = 19 dwellings per hectare 
Total on-site parking provision (including visitor spaces) = 13 spaces 
 
An initial blanket / woodland TPO was served for the site, which was later revised to a series 
of individual TPOs protecting a series of mature trees on the site. The proposed development 
would result in the removal of some existing vegetation, including trees, on the site, but the 
protected trees are all shown to be retained.  
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
No previous relevant planning history for the application site. However, the following 
permissions in the immediate area are considered to be relevant: 
 
Land at Friars Oak Farm, Boyneswood Road, Medstead 
 
25256/032 -  Erection of eighty dwellings (with demolition of Boyneswood Lodge) including 32 

affordable homes, garages, car parking, associated infrastructure, open space 
and landscaping (as amended by amended plans / additional plans received on 
06/03/2014, 07/04/2014, 08/04/2014 AND 10/04/2014). Permission, 09/10/2014. 

 
Land to the rear of Brackenbury Gardens and, Boyneswood Close, Medstead 
 
25256/048 -  Proposed construction of 45 dwellings on land east of Boyneswood Road, 

Medstead, Alton, Hampshire. Under consideration, April 2022. 
 
Development Plan Policies and Proposals 
 
The Draft version of the Local Plan (2017 -2036) was published under Regulation 18 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) for public 
consultation from 5 February to 19 March 2019. Paragraph 48 of the NPPF (2021) sets out 
the circumstances when emerging planning policies may be given weight in determining 
planning applications. Based on the current early stage of preparation, the draft Local Plan 
policies are currently afforded no weight.  
 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014) 
 
CP1 -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
CP2 -  Spatial Strategy 
CP10 -  Spatial strategy for housing 
CP11 -  Housing tenure, type and mix 
CP13 -  Affordable housing on residential development sites 
CP19 -  Development in the countryside 

Page 32



CP20 -  Landscape 
CP21 -  Biodiversity 
CP24 -  Sustainable construction 
CP25 -  Flood Risk 
CP26 -  Water resources/ water quality 
CP27 -  Pollution 
CP28 -  Green Infrastructure 
CP29 -  Design 
CP31 -  Transport 
CP32 -  Infrastructure 
 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (2006) 
 
C6 -  Tree Preservation 
T2 - Public Transport Provision and Improvement 
T3 -  Pedestrians and Cyclists 
H14 -  Other Housing Outside Settlement Policy Boundaries 
 
Medstead and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan (2016)  
 
Policy 1 –  Spatial Plan 
Policy 10 –  Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity 
Policy 11 –  Sustainable Drainage Systems 
 
Vehicle Parking Standards SPD July 2018 
 
Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) July 2021 
 
In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly relevant 
to the consideration of the development; 
 
 2.  Achieving sustainable development  
 4.  Decision-making  
 5.  Delivering a sufficient supply of homes  
 6.  Building a strong, competitive economy  
 8.  Promoting healthy and safe communities  
 9.  Promoting sustainable transport  
11.  Making effective use of land  
12.  Achieving well-designed places  
14.  Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change  
15.  Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  
 
 
 

Page 33



Village Design Statement - Medstead - A Vision for the Future - non statutory planning 
guidance that has been the subject of public consultation and therefore is a material planning 
consideration. 
 
Medstead Parish Plan 2008 
 
Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments 
 
Arboricultural Officer (EHDC) - No objection, subject to a condition (works in accordance with 
submitted Arboricultural Method Statement).  
 
County Ecologist - No objection, with the following comments: 
 
“The site lies within the countryside, it is surrounded by existing development courtesy of the 
recent completion of 80 dwelling to the east. The small area of land does not serve any 
countryside functions and is physically, functionally and visually related to existing urban area 
of South Medstead that lies within the existing settlement policy boundary. The land was 
formerly used as gardens and closely relates to the character of the built form and has 
enclosing features. Therefore, there is no policy objection to the principle of development in 
this location, subject to the satisfaction of the tree officer in regard to protected trees.” 
 
Drainage Consultant (EHDC) - No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
Forward Planning (Planning Policy - EHDC) - No objection. 
 
The site lies within the countryside, it is surrounded by existing development courtesy of the 
recent completion of 80 dwelling to the east. The small area of land does not serve any 
countryside functions and is physically, functionally and visually related to existing urban area 
of South Medstead that lies within the existing settlement policy boundary. The land was 
formerly used as gardens and closely relates to the character of the built form and has 
enclosing features. Therefore, there is no policy objection to the principle of development in 
this location, subject to the satisfaction of the tree officer in regard to protected trees. 
 
Landscape Officer (EHDC) - No objection, with the following comments: 
 

 site is physically, functionally and visually related to the existing urban area;  

 no objections in principle on Landscape Character grounds - to the development; 

 the applicant's intends to retain trees of significance and provide additional planting are 
welcomed; and 

 if minded to approve this application then a landscape condition would be required in order 
to check the final planting proposals, boundary treatments and hard landscaping 
materials. 

 
 
 
 

Page 34



Local Highway Authority (HCC) - No objection (no conditions), with the following summarised 
comments: 
 

 access would be via the currently unadopted (private) Holland Drive which provides 
access to Boyneswood Road to the south west; 

 appears to be adequate space for vehicles to turn on site and therefore access and egress 
the site in forward gear; 

 eight cycle spaces are proposed and to be stored within integral or external garages; 

 Highway Authority considers that the development is unlikely to result in any material 
highway/transportation implications. 

 
Recycling and Refuse Section (EHDC) - No objection.  
 
Traffic Management Team (EHDC) - No adverse comment to make on this application. 
 
Four Marks Parish Council 
 
Comment Date - Fri 19 Mar 2021 
 
The Parish Council strongly object to this application. 
 
The proposal is currently outside the Settlement Policy Boundary, and therefore contrary to 
EHDC Local Plan and Joint Core Strategy Policy CP19, and whether inside or outside the 
SPB, also contrary to Policy 1 of the Medstead and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
The area is currently covered by an area TPO, which would mean the loss of trees currently 
awarded protection. 
 
This small area of greenspace between Boyneswood Road and the Azalea development is a 
vital green lung which does have an important function mitigating the loss of the green space 
following the recent development. 
 
EHDC can clearly demonstrate a 6.11 years of housing land supply, therefore there is no 
identified need for additional development in this location. The proposal is for four 4 
bedroomed dwellings, therefore not an appropriate housing mix, as identified in the Interim 
HEDNA (2018), where the need is for 2 and 3 bedroomed dwellings. 
The Design & Access statement incorrectly states that there is a regular bus service running 
through the village along Boyneswood Road (page 3), and that there is a bus stop by 
Boyneswood Close. The nearest bus stop and bus service is on the Winchester Road, Four 
Marks, some 800m away. 
 
The Ecology report is a preliminary report, carried out last Autumn, and only a site walkover 
survey visit. A more detailed survey needs to be carried out to assess the affect that the new 
development has had on the wildlife, flora and fauna in the area, which will have naturally 
migrated to the nearest green space.  
 

Page 35



It is also noted the report refers to a development of up to 10 residential dwellings, which 
indicates that the green space either side is likely to be developed which would only increase 
the further detrimental effect on the existing wildlife. 
 
The Ecology report also reports that there are 4 SINC sites within 1km of the proposed site 
should, therefore a SANG mitigation need to be considered? 
 
The access to the development site is on a right angled bend and shares the only access 
point with the 80 occupants of the Azalea development, although each application should be 
assessed on its own merit, the accumulation of traffic movement must be considered. The 
cumulative affect on the single lane railway bridge on Boyneswood Road, and the 
Boyneswood Road junction with the A31, already over capacity with all recent junction easing 
and pedestrian safety proposals deemed undeliverable. 
 
A designated parking bay for the Azalea development will be removed to create the access, 
will this be replaced elsewhere as it removes 2 spaces from an agreed parking allocation 
within the Azalea development? 
 
The access driveway crosses a buffer zone along the length of the fence line. 
 
The proposal is an incremental accumulation and encroachment onto a vital green lung and if 
approved will set a precedent of development by attrition, and therefore respectfully request 
that the Planning Officer refuses this application. 
 
Comment Date - Thursday 02 Sep 2021 
 
The Parish Council acknowledge and have noted the amended plans and additional reports, 
however the area is still outside the Settlement Policy Boundary, with any proposed changes 
in the Local Plan Review not yet made, so remains contrary to Policy CP19.  The LPA can 
demonstrate a 6.1 year housing land supply, there is no identified need for these dwellings.  
This site is a vital green lung between two recently built residential developments and should 
be left to mitigate the loss of the surrounding green space.  In addition, the loss of a 
substantial number of trees in this location goes against all current climate change mitigation 
policies, and therefore the Council's strong objection still stands. 
 
Medstead Parish Council  
 
Comment Date - Monday 15 Mar 2021 
 
The proposed development site is outside the Settlement Policy boundary and is contrary to 
Policy CP19 of the EHDC Local Plan Joint Core Strategy and Policy 1 of the Medstead and 
Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
The single lane bridge on Boyneswood Road over the railway line and the Boyneswood Road 
junction with the A31 are already over capacity with all junction easing and pedestrian safety 
proposals deemed undeliverable, as confirmed by HCC. 

Page 36



There is an "area" TPO on this piece of land until May and then subject to an inspection by a 
Tree Officer. In view of this application the inspection will now happen sooner. According to 
the plan the access/egress road crosses a wildlife corridor. This does not seem viable. 
 
Although this application is in respect of 4 houses, the ecology report shows there is provision 
for a further 6 houses on the paddock behind "Ashdod" in Boyneswood Road, so beyond this 
application this could turn into a 10 house development. There may be further issues for 
scope for development in this field as "Ashdod" is now for sale. Although not connected, the 
approval for the 4 houses may well encourage further applications. 
 
Increased vehicular traffic exiting onto an increasingly busy road, with its accompanying noise 
and pollution further detracts from the much valued village environment. 
 
In the circumstances, Medstead Parish Council would ask that this application be refused by 
the Planning Officer. 
 
Comment Date - Thursday 19 Aug 2021 
 
Medstead Parish Council have again reviewed the application and strongly object to this 
latest iteration of the application for the following reasons and basically the same as were 
stated before which are as follows. 
 
The proposed development site is outside the Settlement Policy boundary and is contrary to 
Policy CP19 of the EHDC Local Plan Joint Core Strategy and Policy 1 of the Medstead and 
Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
The single lane bridge on Boyneswood Road over the railway line and the Boyneswood Road 
junction with the A31 are already over capacity with all junction easing and pedestrian safety 
proposals deemed undeliverable, as confirmed by HCC. 
 
There is a provisional "area" TPO on this piece of land being TPO (EH1170)2021. According 
to the plan the access/egress road crosses a wildlife corridor. This does not seem viable.  
 
Although this application is in respect of 4 houses, the ecology report shows there is provision 
for a further 6 houses on the paddock behind "Ashdod" in Boyneswood Road, so beyond this 
application this could turn into a 10 house development. There may be further issues for 
scope for development in this field as "Ashdod" is now for sale. Although not connected, the 
approval for the 4 houses may well encourage further applications. 
 
Increased vehicular traffic exiting onto an increasingly busy road, with its accompanying noise 
and pollution further detracts from the much valued village environment. 
 
In the circumstances, Medstead Parish Council would ask that this application be refused by 
the Planning Officer. 
 
 

Page 37



Comment Date - Monday 17 Jan 2022 
 
Medstead Parish Council strongly object to this application. To our knowledge, this is the third 
planning application in respect of this site, although the reference number seems unchanged. 
In essence, this is the same application with some minor amendments. 
 
Notwithstanding this, the site is outside of the Settlement Policy Boundary and is therefore 
remains contrary to the EHDC Local Plan and Joint Core Strategy Policy CP19. Additionally it 
is also contrary to Policy 1 of the Medstead and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
The access to the site is on a right angled bend onto a somewhat restricted road used by the 
existing Azalea development and further increased traffic movements will result onto the 
increasingly busy Boyneswood Road. Access to the main A31 is via a single lane bridge over 
the heritage railway line. This width restricted bridge also shares the road with a pedestrian 
"walkway" offering no or little safety to walkers. Pedestrians from this proposed development 
will be obliged to cross the road to access walkway. 
 
As previously mentioned, the ecology report shows that there is provision for a further 6 
houses on the paddock behind "Ashdod" in Boyneswood Road and so this could become a 
10 house development and, if permission were granted, the approval may well encourage 
further applications. Creeping development. 
 
In the circumstances, Medstead Parish Council respectfully request that the Planning Officer 
refuses this application. 
 
Representations 
 
A total of 91 representations have been received for this application, of which 89 have raised 
an objection and two are in support of the proposal.  
 
A summary of the representations received are set out below. 
 
Objections 
 
Neighbouring amenity 
 
a. overlooking and loss of privacy 
b. noise and disturbance 
 
Policy 
 
c. development outside settlement policy boundary 
d. no need for additional housing 
a. contrary to Policy CP19 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and Policy 1 of the 

Medstead and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 38



b. site forms a countryside buffer - in conflict with Policy CP10 (Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy) 

 
Design / character of the area 
 
c. overdevelopment 
d. too dense and too many four bed units (Officer note: amended plans have been received 

changing the housing mix on the site).  
 
Ecology / wildlife 
 
e. site forms a countryside buffer 
f. impact on local wildlife 
g. green arboretum should be preserved 
h. vital area of countryside and haven for wildlife 
i. loss of wildlife corridor 
 
Traffic / parking 
 
j. Increase in traffic generation impacting local highway network 
k. insufficient on-site parking 
l. access is off a tight bend off Holland Drive 
m. access would result in the loss of one visitor parking space 
 
[Officer note: amended plans have been received which move the vehicle access to the south 
away from the bend in the road and roadside vehicle parking space] 
 
Climate change 
 
n. site helps towards climate change 
o. site is a vital green lung 
p. mature trees are necessary for combating climate change, flooding and wildlife 
 
Other 
 
q. development would result in increased water runoff - flooding and drainage concerns 
r. impact on local infrastructure 
s. permission could result in further development on adjoining land parcels 
t. covenant on land preventing more than one dwelling [Officer note: Covenants are not 

material planning considerations] 
u. loss of a green field sites - brown field sites should be prioritised  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



Departure Notice 
 
A departure notice was displayed on the site (dated 22 March 2022) and advertised in a local 
newspaper (25 March 2022). Summarised comments received in respect of the notice are set 
below:  
 
v. no Parish Council Involvement with Departure Notice 
w. local Ward Councillors were not aware of the Departure Notice  
x. unsure what a departure notice means 
y. sets a dangerous precedent 
 
Determining Issues 
 
1. Principle of development 

  5-year land supply 

  material considerations 
2. Impact on the character of the area 
3. Impact on neighbouring amenity 
4. Impact on trees and vegetation / Green Infrastructure 
5. Highway and parking considerations 
6. Ecology 
7. Flooding and drainage 
8. Sustainable construction 
9. Developer contributions / legal obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
Planning Considerations  
 
1. Principle of development / material considerations 
 
As required by section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
applications must be determined in line with the adopted development plan for the area, 
unless material considerations apply.  The development plan for East Hampshire District 
Council and this proposal comprises the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy, the 'saved' policies of the 2006 East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 
and the Four Marks and Medstead Neighbourhood Development Plan (2015).  
Material considerations in respect of national planning policy are the NPPF, the National 
Planning Policy Guidance and any other matters that are considered material to the proposal. 
 
The spatial strategy for the District is set out in Policies CP2, CP10 and CP19 of The East 
Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014) which directs new development to 
the most sustainable and accessible locations. In addition, Policy 1 (Spatial Plan for the 
Parishes) of the Four Marks and Medstead Neighbourhood Development Plan supports 
development proposals on land within the Settlement Policy Boundaries, subject to 
accordance with other relevant policies of the Plan.   
 
 

Page 40



Policy CP2 (Spatial Strategy) of the Joint Core Strategy directs development to the most 
sustainable and accessible locations and states that 'new development will make the best use 
of previously developed land and buildings within existing built-up areas.'  
 
Policy CP10 (Spatial Strategy for Housing) of the Joint Core Strategy sets out that housing 
proposals should be accommodated through development and redevelopment opportunities 
within existing settlement policy boundaries in the first instance.  
 
Policy CP19 (Development in the Countryside) of the Joint Core Strategy operates as a policy 
of general restraint in order to protect the countryside for its own sake. The policy limits 
development to only that which has a genuine and provide need for a countryside location. 
Paragraph 7.4 of the Joint Core Strategy defines countryside as the areas outside of 
settlement policy boundaries, where the countryside needs to be protected for the sake of its 
intrinsic character, beauty, the diversity and quality of its landscapes, heritage and wildlife, the 
wealth of its natural resources and to ensure it may be enjoyed by all.  
 
Policy CP14 (Affordable homes for rural communities) does potentially allow for residential 
development outside Settlement Policy Boundaries, but this is for affordable housing to meet 
the needs of local people. The development proposal is for four market houses, not for 
affordable housing. Therefore, this policy is not applicable to the development proposal.  
 
In addition, Policy 1 of the Four Marks and Medstead Neighbourhood Plan designates the 
Settlement Policy Boundaries which include the Medstead Village Settlement Policy 
Boundary (MVSPB), a South Medstead Settlement Policy Boundary (SMSPB) and a Four 
Marks Settlement Policy Boundary (FMSPB), as shown on the Policies Maps within the 
Neighbourhood Plan. The application site and neighbouring land parcels lie outside but are 
surrounded by the South Medstead Settlement Policy Boundary.  
 
Policy 1 supports development within the Settlement Policy Boundaries, subject to 
accordance with relevant policies, and goes on to state that the inappropriate development of 
residential gardens, for example, where such development would have local character, will be 
refused. This requirement does not specifically and out of principle prevent development of 
residential gardens, just those that would harm local character. This consideration is 
considered in the later sections of the report below. 
 
The application site lies outside the Settlement Policy Boundary of South Medstead and the 
development is not for affordable housing to meet the needs of the local people as a rural 
exception site. As such, the proposed development is contrary to Policy CP19 of the Local 
Plan: Joint Core Strategy and the principle of development is unacceptable. In such 
instances, where a development proposal is found to be contrary to one or more policies of a 
development plan the proposal may only be considered acceptable where one or more 
material considerations indicate a departure from the development plan. This is explored in 
more detail below. 
  
 
 

Page 41



 5-year land supply 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, which for decision-taking means approving development proposals that accord 
with an up-to-date development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant 
development plan policies or the policies most important for determining the application are 
out-of-date, granting permission unless: 
 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 
 
According to the NPPF, policies will be considered to be out-of-date in instances where the 
local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites.  
 
The East Hampshire Five Year Housing Land Supply document that was published in 
September 2021 demonstrates that as of the 1st April 2021 East Hampshire District can 
identify 5.74 years of housing land supply, equivalent to a surplus of 357 dwellings. The 
Council can demonstrate a sufficient five-year housing land supply; therefore, the appropriate 
Joint Core Strategy (JCS) policies for housing are up to date. 
 

 Material considerations 
 
As previously set out, planning legislation dictates that the decision maker is required to 
determine planning applications in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. In this instance, the development is set within a pocket of 
land that, whilst is largely surrounded by adopted Settlement Policy Boundary of South 
Medstead, the land itself lies outside a Settlement Policy Boundary. As such, for the purposes 
of both Policy CP19 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and Policy 1 of the Four Marks and 
Medstead Neighbourhood Development Plan lies within a countryside location. The form of 
the development does not constitute affordable housing as a rural exception site and no 
justification has been put forward for a genuine and proven need for a countryside location. 
 
The development has been found to be contrary to Policy CP19 (Development in the 
Countryside) of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy. Therefore, in accordance with Planning 
Law, the development can only be supported if other material considerations, separately or in 
combination, indicate a departure from the Development Plan, specifically policy CP19, in 
justified and demonstrated. It shall be considered whether any material considerations exist 
and if they demonstrate a departure from the Development Plan.  
 
The primary other material consideration for this proposal is whether the site can truly be 
considered to be a countryside location, contrary to the purposes of Policy CP2, which directs 
development to the most sustainable and accessible locations in the District.  
 
 

Page 42



Firstly, the purpose of a Settlement Policy Boundary (SPB) should be considered. The role of 
any Settlement Policy Boundary is to define the built limits of a settlement and to differentiate 
between the built form of a settlement, where the principle of development is usually accepted 
and areas outside / beyond the settlement area that are likely to be countryside designations 
where development is strictly controlled. Settlement boundaries also serve a purpose to guide 
development to sustainable locations by seeking to ensure new development, particularly that 
of residential and commercial development, are situated in areas well served by existing 
services and facilities that would otherwise result in dispersed and ad hoc development, with 
poor connectivity, limited-service provision, and high dependence on the use of private motor 
vehicles that would comprise unsustainable development.  
 
The application site, together with the two neighbouring land parcels immediately to the north 
and south of the application site form a rectangular shaped section of land, of some 0.65 
hectares in size, that lies outside of the Settlement Policy Boundary. However, it is 
surrounded by the adopted South Medstead Settlement Policy Boundary on all sides, thus 
can be seen as an island of countryside in an otherwise built-up area. The Settlement Policy 
Boundary extends some 100 metres to north of the site, 130 metres to the east, 40 metres to 
the south and 210 metres to the west. There are also residential properties that surround the 
pocket of land on all sides that are included within the adopted SPB.  
 
Discussions with the Council’s Planning Policy team have indicated that the settlement policy 
boundary as drawn is a legacy from the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Housing and 
Employment Allocations (April 2016) which allocated the land to the east for a residential 
development for about 79 dwellings (Policy FM2: Land at Friars Oak Farm, Boyneswood 
Lane, Medstead. This land has now been developed, however the settlement policy boundary 
on the land to the west of the allocation (partly comprising this site) was not revised, pending 
review as part of the emerging Local Plan, leaving in effect an area of land cut-off from the 
countryside to the west. 
 
As part of the Council's emerging Local Plan, a settlement policy boundary review was carried 
out and published in December 2018 (Settlement Policy Boundary Review: Interim 
Methodology Paper).  
 
Whilst this only forms part of the evidence base in support of the Council's emerging Local 
Plan that holds no weight at this early stage, and any changes to settlement boundaries 
would need to be formalised by the relevant statutory process, including public consultation, 
the document does set out the main aims for reviewing the settlement boundaries in East 
Hampshire which are:  
 

 To ensure that settlement boundaries are logical and easy to identify on the ground; and 

 To identify what parts of the settlement should and should not be included within a 
settlement boundary.   

 
The Document reviews all the existing SPBs, including the of South Medstead SPB, and the 
looks to revise the existing South Medstead SPB to include the land parcel subject of this 
application and the land immediately to the north and south of it.  

Page 43



The land parcel is entitled "Land to the rear of Boyneswood Road", with the Settlement 
Boundary Review Paper advising: 
 
"The area of land represents a small-scale development opportunity which would provide infill 
and rounding off opportunities that are physically, functionally and visually related to the 
existing urban area. Boundary also cuts through gardens along Watercress Way and Friars 
Oak. The curtilages of the properties are closely related to the character of the built form and 
have enclosing features."  
 
On review of the site's characteristics, relationship to the existing built form and residential 
development within Medstead, the site does not function as countryside, but is more akin to 
the surrounding built form of development. In addition, with the site's proximity to services and 
facilities in the nearby area, the site is considered to be located in a sustainable location and, 
therefore, accord with the purposes of Policy CP2 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy. The 
South Medstead SPB is classified as a Small Local Service Centre, as part of the District's 
Sustainability Hierarchy (Level 3 of 5), as set out in paragraph 4.11 of the Local Plan: Joint 
Core Strategy. The application site is considered to amount to a sustainable location.  
 
To conclude, whilst the application has been found to be contrary to Policy CP19 of the Local 
Plan: Joint Core Strategy and Policy 1 of the Four Marks and Medstead Neighbourhood 
Development Plan, owing to the site falling outside the SPB of South Medstead and its default 
position being countryside, there are material considerations that weigh in favour of the 
proposed development.  
 
It is considered that the site is not only located in a sustainable location, but would be 
physically, functionally and visually related to the surrounding built development. This is not 
an edge of settlement site, it is positioned centrally within the adopted South Medstead SPB, 
whereby it is considered it is more characteristic of an urban area than that of a countryside 
location. 
 
As such, these material considerations are considered to weigh in favour of the development 
proposal, whereby the site and development is considered to represent sustainable 
development and accord with the objectives of Policy CP2 of the Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy, despite the site being excluded from the South Medstead SPB.  
 
2. Impact on the character of the area / housing mix 
 
Policy CP29 (design) requires new built development to be of an exemplary standard and 
highly appealing in terms of visual appearance. It also requires development to respect the 
character, identity and context of the District’s towns, villages and countryside.  
 
The immediate character of the area is that of residential development in a sub-urban area, 
with a mixture of property styles and ages set within a range of plot sizes on largely well 
vegetated plots. The application site is positioned between existing residential properties to 
the east and west, with two storey detached properties within Willowfield to the west and a 
recently completed development of 80 dwellings to the east, accessed off Holland Drive. 

Page 44



These properties are a mixture of two storey detached, semi-detached and terrace properties 
that front their respective access roads and are positioned on smaller plots than those 
dwellings to the west accessed off Boyneswood Road.  
 
The proposed development would see the erection of four two storey dwellings, two detached 
and a pair of semi-detached properties. The properties are accessed off, set back from and 
fronting Holland Drive, forming a linear pattern parallel with the rear elevations of 2 and 3 
Willowfield and side elevation of 4 Willowfield to the west of the site. The access point, scale 
and positioning of the buildings has been influenced by the protected trees on the site to 
ensure these are retained.  
 
The four dwellings differ in design but follow a similar design pallet, with traditional and 
conventional detailing of a high standard. All the four dwellings have dual pitched tiled roofs 
and a mixture of external brickwork and tile hanging elevation details, with three of the four 
units ridge lines parallel to Holland Drive and one (Plot 1) at a 90 degree angle. Plot 1 details 
an integral single garage, with a cat-slide roof, front gable projection and dormer window 
within the cat-slide roof. Plots 2 and 3, being the pair of semi-detached properties, has full 
external brickwork elevations, a central chimney stack projecting above the ridge line, open 
front porch and brick work details. Plot 4, again has external brickwork but with tile-hanging at 
first floor level and within the gable ends. The property also has an open front porch, a bay 
window on the side (south) elevation and has its own detached double garage / carport.  
 
The development has a site density of 19 dwellings per hectare and all four of the dwellings 
have their own private rear garden space, extending to a depth of at least 12 metres, front 
gardens and private parking spaces. There is also two visitor parking places on the site and a 
bin collection point adjacent to the access drive for bin storage on collection days.  
 
The proposed development of four dwellings on the site are considered to be in-keeping with 
the semi-rural and residential character of the area, of a good design and respecting the 
nature, pattern and spacing of built form in area.  
As such, the proposed development is considered to be of good quality, appealing in terms of 
visual appearance and respectful of the character, identity and context of the immediate and 
wider area. The development, therefore, is considered to accord with Policy CP29 of the 
Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy.   
 

 Housing mix 
 
In addition to the character and appearance of the area, Policy CP11 (Housing tenure, type 
and mix) sets out that to address housing requirements and to help to create sustainable 
communities new residential development will be required to, amongst other matters not 
applicable to this proposal, will be to provide a range of dwelling tenures, types and sizes to 
meet housing needs.  
 
The original proposal was for the creation of 4x4 bedroomed properties, which was 
considered in design terms to be one dimensional and did not provide a range of dwelling 
types.  

Page 45



The proposal was subsequently amended to provide more of a range of dwelling types 
and sizes, with the removal of 2 of the four bed dwellings for 2 x 3 bedroom dwellings. It 
should be noted that in terms of general market dwellings (as this application) it is down to the 
market to determine the type and size of dwellings. The policy is aimed to meet the housing 
needs of the area, when considering affordable dwellings to meet local needs. For this 
reason, the development is considered to provide an acceptable range of dwellings in 
accordance with Policy CP11 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy.  
  
3. Impact on neighbouring amenity 
 
Policy CP27 (pollution) of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy requires development to not 
have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of occupiers of neighbouring properties through 
loss of privacy or through excessive overshadowing. In addition, the NPPF (paragraph 130) 
requires development to have a high standard of amenity for all existing and future users of 
land and buildings. 
 
The application site lies within a residential area, with the closest residential properties being 
situated to the west of the application site (2, 3 and 4 Willowfield, Watercress Way). The 
residential properties to the north of the site are positioned approximately 70 metres away, 
those to the east are 40 metres away and those to the south are 65 metres away from the 
nearest proposed dwelling.   
 
The site comprises former residential garden land and, following an Officer site inspection, 
appears to not have been used as residential garden land for some time with extensive scrub 
vegetation growth but remnants of residential development with a series of domestic style 
outbuildings. With the exception of the relatively modest outbuildings, the site was free from 
built form with young and mature vegetation cover. 
 
The development details the erection of 4 dwellings on the plot, in a linear (north to south) 
orientation, parallel to the rear elevations of 2 and 3 Willowfield.  
 
The two storey dwelling detailed on Plot 1 is set a metre of the northern side boundary line 
and 13.6 metres from the two storey rear elevation to the shared boundary line to the east, 
shared with 4 Willowfield. The rear elevation of this unit would face the garden and side 
elevation of 4 Willowfield, with a separation distance of over 35 metres. The building, 
comprising Plots 2 and 3, the two storey pair of detached dwellings, is broadly in-line with the 
front and rear elevations of Plot 1. However, this building is positioned slightly further forward 
(east) within the plot, providing a separation distance of 14.4 metres to the shared rear (west) 
boundary line with 3 and 4 Willowfield and a total separation distance of some 30 and 39 
metres between the respective neighbouring properties. Plot 4, the detached two storey 
building, is positioned furthest south on the plot and is set slightly back of Plots 2 and 3, with a 
separation distance 12.7 metres to the shared boundary lines with 2 and 3 Willowfield and a 
total separation distance of over 25 metres between these two properties.  
 
 
 

Page 46



Although not directly relevant to this proposal, the Council's adopted SPD: Residential 
Extensions and Householder Development (paragraph 2.15) sets out that two storey rear 
extensions should respect a 21 metre back-to-back separation distance between properties in 
order to avoid any undue overlooking of the neighbouring dwellings and their private amenity 
space.  
 
It is accepted that this proposal would introduce new residential development on the site and 
not simply enlarging and existing property, where levels of overlooking may presently exist. 
However, the SPD does serve to suggest that a 21 metre back-to-back separation distance 
can be an acceptable minimum distance where the rear elevations of properties face one 
another. In this case, it is accepted that the development would introduce new residential on 
the site that would change the existing situation and outlook for the occupants of the nearest 
neighbouring properties and increase levels of overlooking above that of the existing situation.  
 
However, the minimum back-to-back separation distance between the proposed dwellings 
and existing properties exceeds 21 metres at over 25 metres (26.1 metres). Also, the rear 
elevations of plots 1 and the majority of Plot 2 would face the side elevation of 4 Willowfield, 
with a greater separation distance, Plots 3 has a greater separation distance of 30 metres and 
Plot 4 the closest point of Plot 4 is to 2 Willowfield, they are not directly back-to-back. The 
back-to-back distance with the 3 Willowfield is also approximately 30 metres.  
 
The development, with the introduction of four dwellings on a presently largely vacant site, 
would result in some loss of privacy to the occupants of the neighbouring and immediately 
surrounding properties. However, the levels of overlooking and change of outlook, are for 
reasons of the separation distance and layout of the dwellings, not considered to result in an 
unacceptable loss of privacy, nor overshadowing or overbearing impact on the occupants of 
the neighbouring and surrounding properties. Therefore, the development is considered to 
accord with Policy CP27 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and the advice contained 
within the NPPF (paragraph 130 (f)).  
 
4. Impact on trees and vegetation / Green Infrastructure 
 
The application site comprises former residential garden land that has a number of existing 
trees and other vegetation on it, whereby some of the existing trees on the site and subject of 
a Tree Preservation Order (TPO). In this regard, Policy CP20 (Landscape) of the Local Plan: 
Joint Core Strategy seeks to conserve and enhance the District's natural environment by 
protecting and enhancing natural and historic features which contribute to the distinctive 
character of the district’s landscape, such as trees, woodlands, hedgerows, soils, rivers, river 
corridors, ditches, ponds, ancient sunken lanes, ancient tracks, rural buildings and open 
areas. Policy CP20 also seeks to maintain, manage and enhance the green infrastructure 
networks in-line with Policy CP28 (Green Infrastructure) of the Local Plan: Green 
Infrastructure.  
 
 
 
 

Page 47



Also, Policy C6 of the Local Plan: Second Review sets out that Planning permission will not 
be granted for development that would damage or destroy one or more trees protected by a 
tree preservation order or in a conservation area unless removal would be in the interests of 
good arboricultural practice. 
 
There are a number of trees and other vegetation on the site, with many of the trees along the 
eastern site boundary line subject of a TPO. Initially, the entire site was subject of a woodland 
TPO, but this was later revised to a series of individual TPOs following a detailed site 
inspection by the Arboricultural Team. Following this, amended plans have been received 
detailing the re-positioning of the vehicle access point away from a group of protected trees to 
a more central position along the eastern boundary between two groups of protected trees. In 
addition, the layout and positioning of the four dwellings has been altered to be set away from 
the trees to avoid direct pressures from the development proposal and to reduce potential 
post development pressures.  
 
The Council's Arboricultural Officer has reviewed the amended proposal, and has raised no 
objection to the development, subject to a condition requiring the development to be carried 
out in accordance with the submitted Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection 
Plan. In addition, the Council's Landscape Officer has also reviewed the proposal and also 
has raised no objection, commenting that the site is physically, functionally and visually 
related to the existing urban area and the proposal would result in the retention of the 
significant existing trees on the site, with further potential planting welcomed.  
 
The proposed development would see the removal of areas of existing vegetation cover on 
the site, but crucially would see the retention of all of those protected trees on the site 
whereby no objections have been received from either the Council's Arboricultural Officer and 
Landscape Officer. There is also scope to include a condition relating to additional soft 
landscaping planting on the site, should the proposal be supported. On this basis, Officers are 
of the opinion that the development would conserve the District's natural environment and 
would not damage or destroy one or more trees protected by a Tree Preservation Order. 
Therefore, the development proposal is considered to accord with Policy CP20 of the Local 
Plan: Joint Core Strategy and Policy C6 of the Local Plan: Second Review.  
 
Green Infrastructure  
 
As set out above, Policy CP20 seeks to maintain, manage and enhance green infrastructure 
networks in-line with Policy CP28 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy. Policy CP28 of the 
Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy sets out that development will be permitted provided that it 
maintains, manages and enhances the network of new and existing green infrastructure. In 
addition, Policy 10 (Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity) of the Medstead Neighbourhood 
Development Plan is relevant. This policy states that the retention of existing green 
infrastructure, corridors, ponds and other wildlife habitats; and the connection of wildlife 
habitats in the settlements to those in the countryside will be supported. 
 
 
 

Page 48



The site itself, as previously set out, together with the neighbouring land parcels immediately 
to the north and south of the site, form an isolated pocket of former garden land that is 
surrounded by residential development / urban built form and is separated from the 
surrounding countryside. This is further exacerbated by the 1.8 metre close board fence that 
runs along the eastern and southern boundary of the land parcel, fronting onto Holland Drive.  
 
The site is not considered to be well connected to the wider countryside, which lies beyond 
the South Medstead SPB. The closest points to the countryside beyond the SPB and this land 
parcel is some 40 metres to the south of the site, on the opposite side of Holland Drive, 75 
metres to the north and 130 metres to the east beyond the approved and recently built out 
housing development.   
 
The development would see the introduction of four residential units on the site, which would 
change the character of the site. However, all the protected trees on the site are to be 
retained and there is scope for further additional soft landscaping. Therefore, the 
development would see the retention of much of the existing green infrastructure on the site 
and the site is considered to have limited connectivity to the wider countryside. As such, the 
development is considered to comply with Policies CP20 and CP28 of the Local Plan: Joint 
Core Strategy, together with Policy 10 of the Four Marks and Medstead Neighbourhood 
Development Plan.  
 
Lastly, it is noted that concerns have been raised that the proposed development would 
undermine a wildlife corridor / enhancement secured as part of the permission for the 80 
houses forming Holland Drive to the east and south of the site. It would appear that the 
permission for these houses (25256/048) included an approved landscaping plan as part of 
site enhancements for landscaping and biodiversity that included the planting of a wildflowers 
along the existing grass verge between the eastern boundary of the application site, together 
with the adjoining land parcels to the north and south of the site, to Holland Drive. From an 
Officer site inspection, these works have not yet been completed as the area presently 
comprises managed amenity grassland. However, there is nothing to prevent the wildflower 
planting to be carried out and it is understood from discussions with the Council's Planning 
Compliance Team that these works are due to take place shortly (April / May 2022).  
 
The application site and development proposal is largely beyond this approved wildflower 
area, but in order to access the site from Holland Drive a new single lane vehicle access is 
proposed from Holland Drive that would cut through and effectively remove a section of the 
yet to be planted wildflower area. This in turn would slightly reduce the area for wildflower 
planting. However, the driveway access covers a relatively small part of the area approved for 
wildflower planting. Therefore, despite some of the approved area being lost, the loss of the 
strip of land to the access drive is not considered to fundamentally impact on the wider 
amenity and biodiversity enhancements this wildflower area sought to generate. The 
wildflower area could still be undertaken either side of the access drive, covering a significant 
area which is likely to have biodiversity and amenity benefits.  
 
 
 

Page 49



It has also been indicated that the wildflower area was part of a wildlife corridor across the 
site frontage. This does not appear to be the case from reviewing the approved details, 
particularly, as previously mentioned, there is no where for this area to link up to the wider 
countryside. The site and neighbouring land parcels are enclosed by built development on all 
sides. Therefore, the development and provision of the access drive is not considered to 
result in an adverse impact on a wildlife corridor, which does not presently exist at the time of 
writing.    
 
5. Highway and parking considerations 
 
Policy CP31 of the Joint Core Strategy requires that regard is had to any impact on the safety 

and convenience of the public highway, with the Local Highway Authority (Hampshire County 

Council) being the statutory consultee for development proposals impacting the local highway 

network. In addition, the Council’s SPD: Vehicle Parking Standards sets out parking 

standards for householder development.  

 

The development proposal would see the creation of four dwelling (2x4 bed and 2x3 bed), 

served by an access drive off Holland Drive and each of the units would have their private 

parking areas, with two spaces on the site for visitor parking.  

 

The Local Highway Authority (Hampshire County Council) have reviewed the proposed 

development and raised no objection to the development proposal, with the following 

summarised comments: 

 

 access would be via the currently unadopted (private) Holland Drive, which provides 

access to Boyneswood Road;  

 adequate space for vehicles to turn on site and therefore access and egress the site in 

forward gear; 

 eight cycle spaces are proposed and to be stored within integral or external garages; 

 refuse storage is located on the access, kerb side collection is prevalent at this location so 

it would appear that there is a suitable drag distance for refuse workers and residents ; 

and 

 

 Highway Authority considers that the development is unlikely to result in any material 
highway/transportation implications.  

 
In addition to the comments received from the Local Highway Authority, concerns have been 
raised by residents that the development would result in increased vehicle movements in the 
area resulting in highway safety concerns and a knock-on impact on the wider local highway 
network in the area.  
 
The development, with the creation of four dwellings, would likely see an increase in vehicle 
movements along Holland Drive and onto the wider highway network existing Holland Drive 
onto Boyneswood Road.  

Page 50



However, traffic generation for a four dwelling proposal would be modest and, neither Officers 
or the Local Highway Authority, as the Statutory Consultee, consider the development would 
have an adverse impact on highway safety and capacity. As such, the development the 
development is considered to comply with Policy CP31 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy 
and the advice contained within the NPPF.  
 
In terms of parking, the Council's adopted SPD: Vehicle Parking Standards requires the 
following parking provision for residential development: 
 

 2/3 bed dwelling = 2 parking spaces per dwelling (1 visitor space of every 5 dwellings) - 2 
cycle spaces per dwelling 

 4+ bed dwelling = 3 parking spaces per dwelling (1 visitor space of every 5 dwellings) - 2 
cycle spaces per dwelling 

 
The Council's SPD: Parking Provision requires a total 12 on-site parking spaces, two of which 
to be visitor spaces, and eight cycle spaces. 
 
The development proposal details a total of 13 parking spaces, two of which are visitor 
parking spaces and three are from an integral garage serving Plot 1 and two are from a 
carport / double garage serving Plot 4. The proposed parking provision on the site exceeds 
the required parking standards set out in the Council's SPD: Parking Provision and there is 
also space for cycle spaces.  
 
Also, the SPD does not have any specific requirement in relation to electric car charging 
points but (paragraph 4.6.5) it does encourage, as a minimum, that all new residential 
development should ensure that the electricity infrastructure for individual dwellings is 
sufficient to enable supply to be provided for electric vehicle charging. It also states that 
developments are encouraged to provide electric vehicle charging at the time of build in some 
of the visitor parking bays.  
 
The development does not need provide any specific details in regards to electric vehicle 
charging points for the development. However, the requirements of the Council's SPD can be 
brought to the applicant's attention by way of an informative should the proposal be granted.  
 
In summary, the development does accord with the Council's SPD: Vehicle Parking 
Standards and it is not considered to result in any significant increase in on-street parking in 
the locality above that which presently exists.  
 
6. Ecology 
 
Policy CP21 (Biodiversity) requires development proposals to maintain, enhance and protect 
the District’s biodiversity and its surrounding environment, by protecting and, where 
appropriate, strengthen populations of protected species and ensure wildlife enhancements 
are incorporated into the design, amongst other factors. In addition, the NPPF requires 
planning decisions to contribute and enhance the natural and local environment. 
 

Page 51



 
In support of this application, an Ecological Survey and Appraisal has been provided, together 
with an Ecological Enhancement Statement, revised site plan and supporting letter from the 
applicant's agent setting out both on and off-site ecological mitigation works. The County 
Ecologist has reviewed all the submitted information as part of the assessment of the 
application and has raised no objection to the proposed development, subject to securing a 
Biodiversity Mitigation, Compensation and Enhancement Strategy, as way of a compensation 
for the habitat removal on the site.  
 
It has been concluded that whilst the supporting ecological information does not indicate the 
proposed development would result in an adverse impact on any protected species of flora 
and fauna or their habitats, however, the development would result in the loss of a significant 
amount of natural vegetation of benefit to the wider wildlife that could not be fully 
compensated on the existing site. Therefore, the applicant has put forward an off-site area by 
way of mitigation. The mitigation site lies to the north-east of the application, some 110 
metres away from the application site. The accompanying statement by the applicant's 
Ecologist sets out that this is to comprise an off-site orchard area to compensate primarily for 
the loss of the trees on the application site and falls within the applicant's ownership.  
 
The land area is smaller than the application site, approximately half the size but the 
development would retain existing vegetation, with scope for some further planting. As such, it 
is not considered reasonable for the mitigation site to be equal or greater in size than the 
application site. The size of the mitigation size is considered to be fair to the habitat loss from 
the application site and large enough to deliver the plan enhancements.  
 
The off-site mitigation site is sought to comprise UK native species of local provenance. Also, 
the area is to be sown by a species rich grassland, which will provide a 
greater biodiversity benefit, provide new habitats and a number of ecological enhancement 
features to be included in both the Off-site Orchard Area and site. Enhancements for the 
orchard area include: 
 

 Three Hedgehog refugia (log piles), and a hedgehog house will be installed. 
 
Enhancements for the site include: 
 

 Bird boxes (Vivara Pro Barcelona WoodStone Open Next box or Vivara Pro Seville; 

 WoodStone or similar for Robin Erithacus rubecula and Tit species on retained mature 
trees; 

 Bat boxes (2F Schwegler Bat box or similar) on retained mature trees; 

 Hedgehog highways; and 

 Sympathetic lighting design to minimise disturbance to nocturnal fauna including bats. 
 
Furthermore, the supporting Ecological Statement sets out that a management plan will be 
put in place to help with the establishment of new habitats as well as the maintenance of 
these habitats and features, which can be secured by way of a condition and / or legal 
agreement.  

Page 52



 
In summary, the County Ecologist has not raised an objection to the proposal on the basis 
that it would result in an adverse impact on protected species of flora and fauna or their 
respective habitats, however, concerns have been raised to the loss of much of the wooded 
habitat whereby there is not space on the application site for adequate compensation of the 
habitat loss. Therefore, in accordance with the objectives of Policy CP21 of the Local Plan: 
Joint Core Strategy, to maintain, enhance and protect district wide biodiversity, an off-site 
compensation habitat has been put forward and, because it lies outside the application site, it 
and any enhancement measures, will need to be secured by way of a legal agreement. 
 
Subject to provision and securing the mitigation measures, both on the application site and as 
part of a separate piece of land outside the application site, the development is considered to 
maintain and protect the District’s biodiversity and protected species. As such, the 
development is considered to comply with Policy CP21 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy 
and the advice contained within the NPPF.  
 
7. Flooding and drainage 
 
Policy CP25 (Flood Risk) seeks to ensure development does not increase the risk of flooding 
to people and property, in ensuring development is located on the appropriate sites and there 
is no net increase in surface water run-off from the site.  
 
The application site is located outside national Flood Zones 2 and 3 (medium and high risk), 
being situated in Flood Zone 1 which covers the remaining land in the Country. The 
application site is also not in an area known to be at risk from surface water flooding, but the 
site is located within an area of groundwater vulnerability that covers much of the area 
beyond the application site.  
 
The Council's Drainage Consultant has reviewed the proposal, commenting that the 
development would generate increased water run-off that must be attenuated on the site in 
order not to increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. It is also advised that it is most likely that 
foul drainage would discharge into the existing public foul sewer network, subject to Thames 
Water approval.  
 
The Council's Drainage Consultant has raised no objection to the development, subject to 
satisfactory drainage systems for both foul and surface water, which can be secured by way 
of appropriate planning conditions.  As such, and subject to appropriate conditions, the 
development is not considered to materially increase the risk of flooding to people and 
property above that of the existing situation. As such, the development is considered to 
comply with Policy CP25 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and the advice contained 
within the NPPF.  
 
In addition, concerns have been raised that the development, in removing much of the tree 
cover on the site would increase the risk of flooding in the area. It is accepted that trees can 
play an important role in the inception of rainfall and can help to reduce discharge into local 
water networks, particularly during the months when trees are in leaf.  

Page 53



 
However, there is no evidence to demonstrate that the removal of some of the existing trees 
would result in a direct impact on flooding in the area. Also, the proposal details the retention 
of those larger trees on the site that are subject of a Tree Preservation Order and permission 
from the Local Planning Authority is not required for the removal of trees on any given site 
that are not protected or are situated within a conservation area. Therefore, those existing 
trees on the site that are not protected by a TPO could be removed without requiring 
permission from the Local Planning Authority. Therefore, the removal of the vegetation not 
covered by a TPO is not considered to result in any evidenced and material increase in the 
risk of flooding to people and property in the area.  
 
8. Sustainable construction 
 
Policy CP24 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy seeks to secure 
that development provide at least 10% of energy demand from decentralised and renewable 
or low carbon energy sources. 
 
Details have not been submitted with the application explaining how the proposal would meet 
this requirement. However, such a requirement is considered to be feasible and therefore a 
condition is recommended to secure the necessary details to ensure the development 
provides at least 10% of its energy demand from decentralised and renewable or low carbon 
sources, in accordance with Policy CP24 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy.  
 
9. Developer Contributions and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
The proposal seeks planning permission for the creation of four dwellings, (2 x 3 and 2 x 4 
bedroomed dwellings), whereby Policy CP13 sets out that all new development that results in 
one or more additional dwellings should contribute towards the provisions of affordable 
housing. Therefore, the proposal would have previously required a financial contribution 
secured by way of a planning obligation / S.106 agreement.  
 
However, following a High Court decision and the update of the NPPG, the Government's 
policy advice is clear in that tariff based financial contributions for residential developments of 
10 or fewer, in undesignated rural areas, should not be sought. This advice post dates the 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and therefore no financial 
contributions are sought for this application, in terms of Affordable Housing.  
 
Despite the inability to secure tariff style financial contributions for the proposal, the Council 
adopted its Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Charging Schedule in April 2016. This 
development is CIL liable and an informative shall be included on the decision notice making 
the applicant aware of this.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



Response to Parish Council Comments 
 
The application site lies within the Medstead Parish Council, however, the Four Marks Parish 
Council boundary is relatively close to the application site and both parish councils have 
commented on the proposal raising objections.  
These comments and concerns raised are summarised as follows: 
 

 site is outside the Settlement Policy Boundary, contrary to EHDC Local Plan Policy CP19 
and Policy 1 of the Medstead and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan; 

 loss of protected trees; 

 area of greenspace is a vital green lung; 

 EHDC has a 5-year land supply; 

 inappropriate housing mix (Officer note: comment raised before housing mix was 
changed); 

 no regular bus service through the village along Boyneswood Road; 

 Ecology Survey inadequate; 

 detrimental impact on existing wildlife; 

 impact on capacity of local highway network;  

 removal of visitor parking bay for Azalea development [Officer note: the access point has 
been changed and the visitor bay retained, following receipt of amended plans] 

 access drive crosses a buffer zone along the fence line; 

 loss of trees goes against current climate change mitigation policies; and 

 increase in noise and pollution from vehicular traffic 
 
Many of the concerns raised by both Medstead and Four Marks Parish Councils are 
addressed within the body of the report above. However, it is accepted that the site lies 
outside a Settlement Policy Boundary and contrary to the relevant policies for that reason. 
Although, the site's relationship and enclosure by built development have resulted in a wider 
consideration of the policy objectives where, in Officers opinion, there are material 
considerations that outweigh the relevant policies.  
 
The original blanket Tree Preservation Order (TPO) was updated during the consideration of 
the application to a series of individual TPOs. Those trees confirmed with a TPO are not to be 
removed. The comments in relation to the site being a vital green lung are not supported by 
any evidence and many of the mature trees are to be kept on the site.  
 
The comments regarding the bus service are noted. However, the application site sits within 
the wider South Medstead SPB and is considered to amount to a sustainable location. 
Matters relating to ecology have been considered and updated during the application, 
reviewed by the County Ecologist, and no objection has been raised to the development.  
 
Furthermore, the Local Highway Authority have reviewed the proposal and raised no 
objections on highway safety and capacity grounds.  
 
 
 

Page 55



Finally, the development would result in the loss of some of the existing trees and vegetation 
on the site, but mitigation measures have been put forward in the way of a nearby site where 
additional tree planting is sought and other biodiversity enhancement measures.  
 
Conclusion and Planning Balance 
 
The development would see the construction of four dwellings on piece of land outside, but 
surrounded by a Settlement Policy Boundary. Therefore, the site lies within a countryside 
location for the purposes of the development plan, which is not sought as a rural exception 
site (affordable homes for local people) and the development contrary to Policy CP19 of the 
Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy.  
 
Development proposals found to be contrary to a development plan policy would usually be 
refused, however, planning legislation requires planning applications are determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In 
this respect, the other material considerations where considered as part of this application, 
specifically looking at the area's characteristics, the nature and extent of the adopted SPB 
where it was found that the site was enclosed by built development and the SPB, with a more 
urban characteristic. These considerations have been found to outweigh the site's countryside 
designation in this particular case, with the development considered to be located in a 
sustainable location and meeting the objectives of Policy CP2 of the Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy.  
 
In respects of all other policy requirements of the development plan, together with the 
supporting guidance and the advice contained within the NPPF, the development has been 
found to accord with these and no objections have been raised by the Statutory Consultees. 
As such, the development is not considered to have an adverse impact on the character of 
the area, result in an unacceptable impact on the amenities enjoyed by the occupants of the 
neighbouring and surrounding properties, have an adverse impact on highway safety, 
materially increase the risk of flooding nor have a demonstrable impact on protected species 
and/or their habitats and would conserve the biodiversity of the District with the off-site 
enhancement measures.  
 
As such, with the exception of Policy CP19 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint 
Core Strategy, the development is considered to comply with the development plan. From the 
above assessment it is considered that there are material considerations which justify a 
departure from the development plan for this particular proposal, thus the planning balance is 
in favour of granting planning permission for this development.  
 
The application is, therefore, recommended for approval subject to conditions and a legal / 
S106 agreement to secure the off-site ecological / biodiversity mitigation measures.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



RECOMMENDATION  
 
Subject to the applicant entering into a Planning Obligation to secure the provisions of the 
following requirements, and this Obligation is completed no later than 29 July 2022, then the 
Director of Regeneration and Place be authorised to grant PERMISSION to secure the 
following items and the recommended planning conditions listed below: 
 

 biodiversity mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures, in accordance with 
condition 9, for improvement of Land south of 58 Holland Drive, Medstead and rear (east) 
of 21 and 22 Friars Oak, Medstead (Orchard Mitigation Area), as shown edge in blue on 
the supporting Site Location Plan within the submitted Ecology Statement (Tetra Tech, 
reference 784-B033717, dated 09/02/2022); and 

 retention of the site in perpetuity for the agreed biodiversity mitigation, compensation and 
enhancement measures - to be carried out and managed in accordance with a written 
scheme to be provided in accordance with condition 9 of this permission.   

 
However, in the event that all parties do not enter into a Planning Obligation to secure the 
above matters by the above date, then the application will be refused under the adopted 
scheme of delegation unless the Director of Regeneration and Place, in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Planning, authorises further time extension(s) for the completion of this 
Obligation. 
 
Recommended conditions: 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 

of three years from the date of this planning permission. 
 
Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 
 

2 No development shall start on site until the Local Planning Authority has 
approved in writing a full scheme of biodiversity mitigation, compensation 
and enhancement measures, in accordance with condition 9 of this 
permission of works for improvement to: 
 
(a) Land south of 58 Holland Drive, Medstead and rear (east) of 21 and 
22 Friars Oak, Medstead - Orchard Mitigation Area, as shown edge in 
blue on the supporting Site Location Plan within the submitted Ecology 
Statement (Tetra Tech, reference 784-B033717, dated 09/02/2022). 
 
Reason - To deliver the required off-site ecological mitigation, 
compensation and enhancement measures.  
It is considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition 
as such details need to be taken into account in the construction of the 
development and thus go to the heart of the planning permission. 
 

Page 57



3 Notwithstanding any indication of materials that may have been given in 
the application or in the absence of such information, no development 
above slab level shall take place on site until samples / details including 
manufacturers details of all the materials to be used for external facing 
and roofing for the development hereby approved have been submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.   
 
The development works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason - To ensure that the materials used in the construction of the 
approved development harmonise with the surroundings. 
 

4 No development shall commence on site until details of a scheme for foul 
and surface water drainage has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  Such details should include 
provision for all surface water drainage from parking areas and areas of 
hardstanding to prevent surface water from discharging onto the highway 
and should be based on site investigation and percolation tests.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
before any part of the development is first occupied and shall be retained 
thereafter. 
 
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for drainage. It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as such details 
need to be taken into account in the construction of the development and 
thus go to the heart of the planning permission. 
 

5 The proposed hard surface/s shall either be made of porous materials or 
provision shall be made to direct run-off water from the hard surface/s to a 
permeable or porous surface within the site. 
 
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for surface water drainage and 
avoid discharge of water onto the public highway. 
 

6 No development shall commence on site until plans of the site showing 
details of the existing and proposed ground levels, proposed finished floor 
levels, levels of any paths, drives, garages and parking areas and the 
proposed completed height of the development and any retaining walls 
have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority.   
The details shall clearly identify the relationship of the proposed ground 
levels and proposed completed height with adjacent buildings.  The 
development thereafter shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 

Page 58



Reason - To ensure that a satisfactory relationship results between the 
new development and adjacent buildings and public areas.  It is 
considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as 
these details relate to the construction of the development and thus go to 
the heart of the planning permission. 
 

7 The development hereby approved shall not be first brought into use until 
a fully detailed landscape and planting scheme for the site has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and in 
accordance with the recommendations of the appropriate British 
Standards or other recognised codes of good practice.  These works shall 
be carried out in the first planting season after practical completion or first 
occupation of the development, whichever is earlier, unless otherwise first 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years after planting, are 
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be 
replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of species, size 
and number as originally approved unless a suitable alternative species 
are otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason - In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality, biodiversity 
and to enable proper consideration to be given to the impact of the 
proposed development on existing trees. 
 

8 No development shall commence on site until a scheme has been 

submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority to 

demonstrate that the built development hereby permitted incorporates 

measures that provides at least 10% of energy demand from 

decentralised and renewable or low carbon energy sources.  

Before any part of the development is first occupied a verification report 

and completion certificate shall be submitted in writing to the Local 

Planning Authority confirming that the built development hereby permitted 

has been constructed in accordance with the approved scheme.  

The developer shall nominate a competent person for the purpose of 

assessing and providing the above required report and certificate to 

confirm that the completed works incorporate such measures as to 

provide these requirements.   

The measures shall thereafter be retained and maintained to the agreed 

specification for the lifetime of the development.  

Reason - To ensure that the development incorporates necessary 
mitigation and adaptation measures with regard to climate change.   

Page 59



It is considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition 
as these details relate to the construction of the development and thus go 
to the heart of the planning permission. 
 

9 Prior to the commencement of development activities, a Biodiversity 
Mitigation, Compensation and Enhancement Strategy shall be submitted 
to an approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Plan shall 
be in accordance with the ecological mitigation and enhancement 
measures detailed in the letter report dated 9 February 2022 (Tetra Tech) 
and include: details of all ecological mitigation measures for habitats and 
protected species; and details of on-site and off-site habitat 
enhancements (methods, timings, ongoing management, roles and 
responsibilities). All enhancement measures shall be implemented as per 
the agreed Plan and be retained in perpetuity in a condition and location 
suited to their intended function.  
 
Reason - To protect biodiversity in accordance with the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981, the NERC Act (2006), NPPF and with Policy CP21 
of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy. 
 

10 The development hereby approved shall not be first brought into use until 
a detailed boundary treatment plan has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The plan shall include details 
of the positions, design, materials/species of the boundary treatments to 
be erected/planted.  The approved details shall be fully implemented 
before the use of the development is commenced and/or any part of the 
development is occupied and shall be retained thereafter. 
 
Reason - To ensure an appropriate standard of visual amenity in the area, 
in the interests of biodiversity and to safeguard the privacy and amenities 
of the residents of the locality. 
 

11 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict 
accordance with the approved Arboricultural Method Statement prepared 
by Mark Welby Arboricultural Consultant MW.20.0407.AIA Revision A, 
dated 15.07.21 and Tree Protection Plan (drawing number 
MW.20.0407.TPP.RevB) received by the Local Planning Authority on 
26.07.2021.  
 
Reason - To ensure that the trees on and around the site are adequately 
protected from damage to their health and /or amenity value. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



12 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order, 2015 (or any Order 
revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) no extensions and 
outbuildings otherwise permitted under Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A and 
B of said Order shall be carried out on the dwellinghouse or within its 
curtilage without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason - It is considered that extension/alteration of the dwellings could 
result in an adverse effect upon the adjacent properties and/or the visual 
character of the area. 
 

13 The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 
areas shown on the approved plan for the parking of vehicles shall have 
been made available, surfaced and marked out. The parking areas shall 
then be permanently retained and reserved for that purpose at all times. 
 
Reason - To make provision for off street parking for the purpose of 
highway safety. 
 

14 No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until the 
submitted and approved bin and cycle storage has been constructed in 
accordance with the approved details and thereafter retained and kept 
available. 
 
Reason - To ensure the adequate provision of on site facilities. 
 

15 No external lighting/ floodlighting shall be installed on the site until such 
details have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The lighting shall be installed, operated, and 
maintained in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason - In the interests of biodiversity and the amenity of the occupants 
of neighbouring properties. 
 
Note: When submitting details for approval, it is requested that a report 
from a competent Lighting Professional is provided, confirming that the 
external lighting installation meets the Obtrusive Light Limitations for 
Exterior Lighting Installations for Environmental Zone (to be specified for 
the circumstances) as set out in the "Guidance Notes for the Reduction of 
Obtrusive Light GN01:2011" issued by the Institute of Lighting 
Professionals. 
 

16 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars: 
 
 

Page 61



Application Form 
CIL Form 1 
CIL Form 2 
Arboricultural Impact and Method Statement (Mark Welby Arboricultural 
Consultant, Reference: MW.20.0407.AIA Rev. A, issued 15/07/2021) 
Tree Protection Plan (drawing number MW.20.0407.TPP.RevB) 
Design and Access Statement (Revision A) 
Planning Statement 
Preliminary Ecology Report 
Ecological Appraisal (The Ecology Co-op, Reference: P3892, dated 
30/06/2021) 
Ecology Response (The Ecology Co-op, dated 15/10/2021) 
Ecology Statement (Tetra Tech, reference: 784-B033717, dated 
09/02/2022) 
Site Survey (drawing number 442BL04) 
Tree Survey (drawing number MW.20.0407.TS) 
Planning Layout (drawing number P1733.301 Rev. C) 
Building Heights Layout (drawing number P1733.303 Rev. B) 
Materials Layout (drawing number P1733.302 Rev. B) 
Enclosures Layout (drawing number P1733.307 Rev. B) 
Refuse Layout (drawing number P1733.306. Rev. B) 
Parking Layout (drawing number P1733.305 Rev. B) 
Streetscene and Section Plan (drawing number P1733.SS.01 Rev. A) 
Type B - Plot 1: Elevations (drawing number P1733.B.01) 
Type B - Plot 1: Floor and Roof Plans (drawing number P1733.B.01) 
Type C - Plots 2 and 3: Floor and Roof Plans (drawing number 
P1733.C.01) 
Type C - Plot 2 and 3: Elevations (drawing number P1733.C.02) 
 
Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development. 
 

Informative Notes to Applicant: 
 
1 In accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of the NPPF East Hampshire 

District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive approach and 
works with applicants/agents on development proposals in a manner 
focused on solutions by: 
 
offering a pre-application advice service, 
 
updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing 
of their application and where possible suggesting solutions. 
 
 
 
 

Page 62



In this instance, the applicant's agent was updated of issues during the 
consideration and assessment of the application, where issues where 
raised and potential solutions offered. Subsequently, amended plans and 
additional information was received to address the concerns raised by 
Officers and the County Ecologist. No further assistance was required. 
 

2 The proposed development referred to in this planning permission is a 
chargeable development liable to pay Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) under Part 11 of the Planning Act 2008 and the CIL Regulations (as 
amended) 
 
In accordance with CIL Regulation 65, East Hampshire District Council 
will issue a Liability Notice in respect of the chargeable development 
referred to in this planning permission as soon as practicable after the 
day on which planning permission first permits development.  Further 
details on the Council’s CIL process can be found on the East Hampshire 
District Council website: 
https://cdn.easthants.gov.uk/public/documents/Infrastructure%20Funding
%20Statement%20IFS%202021.pdf 
 

3 Bats and their roosts are protected under the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2019 and birds nests, when occupied or being 
built, receive legal protection under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended). All work must stop immediately if evidence of bat or 
nesting bird presence (e.g. droppings, bat carcasses or insect remains, 
recent nesting materials), are encountered at any point during building 
demolition. Should this occur, further advice should be sought from 
Natural England and/or a professional ecologist. 
 

4 Please note that this permission is subject to a Planning Obligation made 
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

5 You are advised that adequate control precautions must be taken in 
order to control dust on the site during demolition and construction, so as 
to prevent a nuisance to local residents and a decrease in local air 
quality. Any mobile concrete crushers used on site must be authorised 
under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 by the relevant Local 
Authority and must use water sprays (where water is available). 
Generally, there should be the use of dust screens and wetting of site 
areas to inhibit dust. 
 

6 In accordance with the Council’s Codes of Practice to Reduce the 
Likelihood of Nuisances Arising from Construction Sites, the applicant is 
made aware that the hours of construction and demolition should be 
limited to 08.00 - 18.00 Mondays to Fridays, 08.00 - 13.00 on Saturdays, 
and no working on Sundays or Bank Holidays.  

Page 63



These hours shall also apply to site traffic and deliveries. 
 

7 The applicant is advised that each of the dwellings, hereby approved, 
have the necessary electricity infrastructure to enable electricity supply to 
be provided for electric vehicle charging and, where possible, this is 
provided for the visitor parking bays.  

 
 
CASE OFFICER: Matthew Harding 01730 234233 
——————————————————————————————————————— 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



Section 1 Item 01 Land to the rear of 2-4 Willowfield, Alton 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Phase 3 Planning Layout  

Page 65



Section 1 Item 01 Land to the rear of 2-4 Willowfield, Alton 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Street Scene and Section Layout 

Page 66



  

Page 67



PART 2 
 
 

                       SOUTH DOWNS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE  

 
Applications to be determined by the council on behalf  

of the South Downs National Park Authority 
 

 
28 April 2022 

 
SECTION 1 – SCHEDULE OF APPLICATION RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

 
          

Agenda item 01   
 
Report to Planning Committee 

Date 28 April 2022 

By Director of Director of Regeneration and Place 

Local Authority East Hampshire District Council 

Application 

Number 

SDNP/22/00643/HOUS 

Applicant Mr Will Parsons 

Application Demolition of an existing conservatory structure and building an 

extension on the same footprint as the removed conservatory. 

Address 138 The Causeway, Petersfield, Hampshire, GU31 4LL 

 

 

 

Recommendation: That the application be Approved for the reasons and 

subject to the conditions set out in paragraph 10 of this report. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 68



Executive Summary 
 
This application is included on the agenda as it has been submitted by a member of 
staff. 
 
The Monitoring Officer confirms that this proposal has been dealt with in accordance 
with the Council's procedures for handling planning proposals submitted by or on 
behalf of Council Members and Staff. 
 
1 Site Description 

 
138 The Causeway is a semi-detached dwelling on the south-east side of the 
road, with materials of red brickwork, under a tiled roof.  The land slopes down 
north-west to south-east.  The dwelling is set back from the road with off-road 
parking to the front.  The enclosed rear garden is screened by close boarded 
fencing, with the rear boundary screened by a mix of fencing, hedging and 
trees.  The site is within the South Downs National Park, the settlement policy 
boundary of Petersfield and the Petersfield Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

2 Proposal 
 
Permission is sought for a flat roofed, parapet walled, single storey extension to 
the rear, with a lantern light above, following demolition of the existing 
conservatory, to accommodate a kitchen extension.  It would measure 3.6m 
wide x 4.6m and 1.3m deep respectively x 3m high (excluding the proposed 
lantern light) and sited on the same footprint as the demolished conservatory.  
Bi-folding doors are proposed within the rear elevation.  A side window is 
proposed within the south-west (side) elevation.  Materials would be of 
brickwork to match the existing dwellinghouse with a single ply membrane roof. 
 
A new timber decking area is also proposed to the rear to replace the existing 
decking. 

 
3 Relevant Planning History 

 
PEU 1225 - Widening of existing vehicular access.  Permission 1973 
PEU 1225/1 - Erection of two-storey side extension.  Permission 1974 

 
4 Consultations  
 

Parish Council Consultee - No Objection 
 

5 Representations 
 
None received. 
 

Page 69



6 Planning Policy Context 
 Applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The statutory development 
plan in this area is the South Downs Local Plan 2014-2033 and any relevant 
minerals and waste plans. Other plans considered: 
 

 Petersfield Neighbourhood Plan 
  
  The development plan policies and other material considerations 
considered relevant to this application are set out in section 7, below. 
  
 National Park Purposes 
The two statutory purposes of the SDNP designation are: 
 

 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural 
heritage,   

 To promote opportunities for the public understanding and enjoyment of 
the special qualities of their areas. 
 

If there is a conflict between these two purposes, conservation takes 
precedence. There is also a duty to foster the economic and social well being of 
the local community in pursuit of these purposes.   
 

 
7 Planning Policy  
 

Relevant Government Planning Policy and Guidance  
Government policy relating to National Parks is set out in English National 
Parks and the Broads: UK Government Vision and Circular 2010 and The 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), updated July 2021. The Circular 
and NPPF confirm that National Parks have the highest status of protection, 
and the NPPF states at paragraph 176 that great weight should be given to 
conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in national parks and 
that the conservation and enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are also 
important considerations and should be given great weight in National Parks. 
 
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
The following National Planning Policy Framework documents have been 
considered in the assessment of this application:  
 
Section 12: Achieving well-designed places of the NPPF is considered to be 
particularly relevant to the consideration of this application. 
 
 
 

Page 70



The South Downs National Park Authority adopted (made) the Petersfield 
Neighbourhood Development Plan on 21 January 2016.  Its policies are 
therefore afforded full weight as an adopted policy document forming part of the 
Development Plan. 
 
BEP 1 The character, setting and quality of the town's built environment 
 
BEP 6 The Settlement Boundary 
 
The development plan policies listed below have been assessed for their 
compliance with the NPPF and are considered to be compliant with the NPPF. 
 
The following policies of the South Downs Local Plan are relevant to this 
application: 
  

 Core Policy SD1 - Sustainable Development 
  

 Core Policy SD2 - Ecosystems Services 
  

 Strategic Policy SD5 - Design 
  

 Strategic Policy SD8 - Dark Night Skies 
  

 Strategic Policy SD9 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
  

 Development Management Policy SD22 - Parking Provision 
  

 Strategic Policy SD25 - Development Strategy 
  

 Strategic Policy SD27 - Mix of Homes 
  

 Strategic Policy SD29 - Rural Exception Sites 
  

 Development Management Policy SD31 - Extensions to existing 
dwellings, and provision of annexes and outbuildings 

 
Partnership Management Plan 
The Environment Act 1995 requires National Parks to produce a Management 
Plan setting out strategic management objectives to deliver the National Park 
Purposes and Duty. National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) states that 
Management Plans "contribute to setting the strategic context for development" 
and "are material considerations in making decisions on individual planning 
applications." The South Downs Partnership Management Plan as amended for 
2020-2025 on 19 December 2019, sets out a Vision, Outcomes, Policies and a 
Delivery Framework for the National Park over the next five years.  
 

Page 71



8 Planning Assessment 
 
Determining Issues 
 

1. Principle of development 

2. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties 

3. Impact upon scale and character of dwelling and impact on the character of 

the area 

4. Ecology and biodiversity 

5. Highway implications 

6. Impact on the South Downs National Park 

 

Planning Considerations  

 

1. Principle of development 

 

The Petersfield Neighbourhood Plan identifies the site as falling within the 

Settlement Policy Boundary of Petersfield.  Policy BEP6 of the Petersfield 

Neighbourhood Plan applies to development within the Settlement Policy 

Boundary (SPB) where there is a presumption in favour of development.  

 

Policy SD25 of the South Downs Local Plan (SDLP) applies to development 

within the Settlement Policy Boundary (SPB) where there is a presumption in 

favour of development. 

 

Policy SD31 of the South Downs National Park Local Plan (SDLP) Plan places a 

limit on proposals which would increase the gross internal area of the existing 

dwelling (as at 18 December 2002) by no more than approximately 30%, except 

in exceptional circumstances. The supporting text to Policy SD31 of the SDLP 

explains that the purpose of the policy is two-fold. Firstly, to avoid the over-

extension of existing dwellings and the adverse impact that this has on the 

character and appearance of both settlements and the countryside.  

Secondly, to maintain a mix of homes consistent with Policy SD27: 'Mix of Homes' 

of the SDLP which, amongst other things, seeks to protect the limited supply of 

small and medium sized homes in the National Park.  

 

The proposal is for a flat roofed, parapet walled, single storey extension to the 

rear, with a lantern light above, following demolition of the existing conservatory, 

to accommodate a kitchen extension.  The calculations are as follows:    

 

 Original dwelling pre 2002 = 152.75sqm 

Page 72



Proposed extension = 12.47sqm 

Less conservatory = -12.47sqm 

Proposed dwelling = 152.75sqm 

 

From the figures, the proposal would result in a 0% increase in floorspace and is 

considered to be in accordance with Policy SD31 of the Local Plan.  The principle 

of the development is, therefore, considered to be acceptable, subject to the 

considerations below.  

 

2. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties 

 

The NPPF seeks to ensure that developments provide a good level of amenity 

for all new and existing occupants of land and buildings. 

 

Policy SD5 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that there is no unacceptable impact 

upon neighbouring amenity.  

 

The application has been the subject of a site visit where the impact on all 

neighbouring properties has been assessed. 

 

The adjacent neighbouring property at 136 The Causeway is sited to the north-

east of the application site.  The boundary treatment between 136 The Causeway 

and the application site consists of 1.6m close boarded fencing.  This 

neighbouring property benefits from two rear conservatories, one sited close to 

the side boundary with the application site.  The proposed flat roofed, parapet 

walled, single storey rear extension would be partially screened from this 

neighbouring property by the existing side boundary screening and the 

neighbouring parapet wall, with a distance of 0.4m between.  No side windows 

are proposed facing 136 The Causeway.  It is acknowledged that the eaves 

height of the proposed single storey extension would be higher than that of the 

existing conservatory by 0.5m.   

 

However, 136 The Causeway also benefits from a mono-pitched parapet wall 

close to the shared side boundary, which stands higher than their existing 

conservatory beyond, therefore, on balance, this is not considered unacceptable 

in this respect. 

 

 

 

Page 73



The adjacent neighbouring property at 140 The Causeway is sited to the south-

west of the application site and set further back.  The boundary treatment 

between 140 The Causeway and the application site consists of 2m and 1.8m 

close boarded fencing.  

 

The proposed flat roofed, parapet walled, single storey rear extension would be 

partially screened from this neighbouring property by the existing side boundary 

screening and garden shed, with a distance of 8m between dwellings.  A side 

window is proposed facing 140 The Causeway, which would face the existing 

side boundary fence screening.  

 

The rear boundary of the property is sited 26m from the rear elevation, with a 

distance of approximately 44m between dwellings to the rear.  Given the single 

storey height, the existing rear boundary screening and the distance involved, it 

is considered that there would be no significant impact on the neighbouring 

properties to the rear. 

 

As such, it is considered that the proposal would be sufficiently distanced, 

orientated and designed so as not to have an unacceptable effect on the 

amenities of the neighbouring properties, in particular to their outlook, privacy or 

available light.  Having regard to the above, the proposal is compliant with Policy 

SD5 of the SDNP Local Plan. 

 

3. Impact upon scale and character of dwelling and impact on the character of 

the area 

 

Policy BEP1 of the Petersfield Neighbourhood Plan requires development to 

meet the highest standards of design and make a positive contribution to the 

character of Petersfield. 

 

Policy SD2 of the SDNP Local Plan seeks to have an overall positive impact on 

the ability of the natural environment to contribute goods and services, and how 

the development proposal impacts, both positively and negatively on ecosystem 

services. 

 

Policy SD5 of the SDNP Local Plan also seeks to ensure good design. 

 

 

 

Page 74



The dwelling is set within a long narrow plot and in a built-up residential area.  

The area is characterised by detached and semi-detached dwellings of a similar 

design. The footprint of the proposal is considered to be proportionate and 

sympathetic to the house and the size of the garden area.   

 

Although the extension incorporates a flat roofed design, it would include a 

lantern light behind a parapet wall and would be neatly tucked into the corner of 

the house to the rear.  The proposal would replace the existing conservatory of 

the same footprint and is considered to be appropriate in scale and use of 

materials.  

 

The single storey height and position within the rear garden area ensures that the 

extension would appear subservient to the main property and would not result in 

any negative impact upon the streetscene or the wider area, with the character 

of the dwelling retained.  

 

A new timber decking area is also proposed to the rear to replace the existing 

decking. 

 

As such, it is considered that the proposal would not result in an unacceptable 

impact upon the scale and character of the dwelling nor the local area. Having 

regard to the above, the proposals are compliant with Policy BEP 1 of the 

Petersfield Neighbourhood Plan and policy SD2 and SD5 of the South Downs 

Local Plan. 

 

4. Ecology and biodiversity 

 

Policies SD2 (Ecosystem Services) and SD9 (Biodiversity net gain) of the SDNP 

Local Plan seek to ensure that development proposals have an overall positive 

impact on the ability of the natural environment. 

 

The Ecosystems Statement states rain water would be collected via the existing 

soakaway and bird boxes and feeders would be provided along with water butts.  

It would be reasonable to impose a condition ensuring that the measures detailed 

within the Ecosystem Services Statement are undertaken and retained 

thereafter. With the relevant condition, the proposal would be in compliance with 

Policies SD2 and SD9 of the SDNP Local Plan. 

 

 

 

Page 75



5. Highway implications 

 

Policy SD22 of the SDNP Local Plan seeks to ensure that there is sufficient 

parking. 

 

The proposal would not result in an increase in the number of bedrooms for the 

dwelling and the access and the parking arrangements would not be affected, 

thus there are no highway implications associated with the development.  Having 

regard to the above, the proposal is compliant with Policy SD22 of the SDNP 

Local Plan. 

 

6. Impact on the South Downs National Park  

 

The site is located within the South Downs National Park and, as such, the 

proposal is to be assessed in terms of its impact on its purposes. The site is within 

a residential area and within the settlement policy boundary of Petersfield.  Policy 

SD08 of the South Downs Local Plan states that development will be permitted 

where it conserves and enhances the intrinsic quality of dark night skies and the 

integrity of the Dark Sky Core policies map.  The designated International Dark 

Night Reserve is part of the special quality of the National Park. 

 

Policy SD08 makes it clear that the spill of lights from large open glass windows 

and sky lights often present a greater source of light pollution than externally 

mounted lights. Consequently, it is important to control the lighting coming from 

these types of developments.   

In this instance, the proposal would replace an existing fully glazed conservatory.  

It would include a lantern light and bi-folding doors, which would be fitted with 

blinds.  With the relevant condition, the proposal would be in compliance with 

Policy SD08 of the SDNP Local Plan. 

 

As such, the proposal is considered to have a minimal effect on the South Downs 

National Park. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

9 Conclusion 

Page 76



 
The proposal is considered to be acceptable as it would be in scale and 
character with the dwelling, would not detract from the character and 
appearance of the area or the South Downs National Park, would not have an 
unacceptable impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties and would not 
have an adverse effect on the safety and function of the highway network. As 
such, the proposal is in compliance with the South Downs Local Plan and the 
Petersfield Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
 

10 Reason for Recommendation and Conditions 
 
It is recommended that the application be Approved for the reasons and subject 
to the conditions set out below. 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission. 
 

Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the plans listed below under the heading "Plans Referred to in 
Consideration of this Application". 
 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
3. The materials used in the construction of the development hereby 
approved shall be as detailed within the permitted application particulars and 
shall be retained permanently as such, unless prior written consent is obtained 
from the Local Planning Authority to any variation. 
 

Reason: To safeguard the appearance of the building and the character of the 

area.  

 
4. Within two months of the date of substantial completion of the 
development hereby approved, the actions detailed within the Ecosystems 
Services Statement shall have been carried out within the site and maintained 
thereafter. 
Reason:  To protect and enhance biodiversity in accordance with Policies SD2 

and SD9 of the SDNP Local Plan. 

 

 

 
5. Blackout blinds shall be installed and permanently maintained for the bi-
folding doors and lantern light hereby permitted.  This mitigation method shall 

Page 77



be used unless another mitigation method is otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To protect the character of the countryside, and the designated 

International Dark Night Reserve, which is part of the special quality of the South 

Downs National Park, in accordance with National Park Purposes and the 

National Planning Policy Framework 2021. 

 

11.  Crime and Disorder Implications  

11.1  It is considered that the proposal does not raise any crime and disorder 
implications.  

12.  Human Rights Implications  

12.1  This planning application has been considered in light of statute and case law 
and any interference with an individual’s human rights is considered to be 
proportionate to the aims sought to be realised.  

13.  Equality Act 2010  

13.1  Due regard has been taken of the South Downs National Park Authority’s 
equality duty as contained within the Equality Act 2010.  

14.  Proactive Working  

  In this instance the application was acceptable as submitted and no further 
assistance was required. 

 
 
Contact Officer: Bernie Beckett 

Tel: 01730 234336 

email: bernie.beckett@easthants.gov.uk 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 – Plans Referred to in Consideration of this Application 

Page 78



 
The application has been assessed and recommendation is made on the basis of the 
following plans and documents submitted: 
 

Plan Type Reference Version Date 

Received 

Status 

Application Form -  
  

08.02.2022 Approved 

Application Documents - CIL 

form 1 

  
08.02.2022 Approved 

Plans - Existing and 

proposed floor and 

elevations 

  
08.02.2022 Approved 

OS Extract - Site and 

location plan 

  
18.03.2022 Approved 

Application Documents - 

Design and access 

statement 

  
18.03.2022 Approved 

Application Documents - 

Ecosystem services 

statement 

  
18.03.2022 Approved 

 
Reasons: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
  

Page 79



Part 2 Section 1 Item 1 138 The Causeway 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Block Plan 
  

Page 80



Part 2 Section 1 Item 1 138 The Causeway 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Existing Rear Elevation and Floor Plan 

 
 
 
 

  

Page 81



Part 2 Section 1 Item 1 138 The Causeway 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Proposed Elevation and Floorplan 

Page 82


	Agenda
	 
	2. Confirmation of Minutes
	Minutes
	79. PART 1 - East Hampshire District Council - Applications and related planning matters to be determined or considered by the Council as the local planning authority.
	81. 38980/007/FUL/KM - The Spinney, Shalden Lane, Shalden, Alton, GU34 4DT
	Shalden Parish Council. speaking notes 9.3.22 (DO)
	Agent Deputation 38980007FULKM


	6. Future Items
	7.(i) 59143/FUL/MH - Land to the rear of 2-4 Willowfield, Watercress Way, Medstead, Alton
	7.(ii) SDNP/22/00643/HOUS - 138 The Causeway, Petersfield, Hampshire, GU31 4LL

